
 
 

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LGES 
MEETING 

 
4.00 pm MONDAY, 19TH OCTOBER, 2020 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this Meeting and a separate invitation 
will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to Committee Members only  

 
 

 
Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  

  
This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 

 
All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 

filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 
above. 

 

 
 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 
 

 

3. Central South Consortium (CSC) Commitments to 
Raising Aspirations Raising Standards Strategy 
(RARS)  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

5 - 24 

4. Corporate Self-Evaluation – Key Question 2 
(Incorporating Inspection Area 2 of Estyn 
Framework)  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

25 - 66 

5. Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

67 - 76 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 

 



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair) 

                      S Jago (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors: H Barrett, B Carter, D Isaac and M Jones 
 
Co-optees: C Brown, K Phelan, M Symonds and 
K Jones 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Central South Consortium (CSC) Commitments to 
Raising Aspirations Raising Standards Strategy 
(RARS) 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report outlines the support CSC will provide to schools across Merthyr Tydfil to 

secure positive outcomes against the aims of the RARS strategy. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
2.2 Members consider if further information is needed to understand the support for the 

RARS strategy from CSC or other service areas. 
 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 Since 2012 CSC has been the school improvement service for Merthyr Tydfil 
Schools. 
 

3.2 CSC is a regional service for the five local authorities – Bridgend, Cardiff, Merthyr 
Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taff and the Vale of Glamorgan. 
 

3.3 It provides both challenge and support for leadership through its Improvement 
Partners and also strategic curriculum support through strategic curriculum 
specialists. 
 

3.4 As part of their work CSC provides bespoke work for local authorities where there is 
an identified need for improvement. 

Date Written 7th October 2020 

Report Author Emma Willmott 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 19th October 2020 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 

4.1 It was recognised at a corporate level that improvements in school attainment have 
not been sustained over the last few years and that a fundamental re-think of 
strategy and intervention was needed to ensure all children and young people have 
the opportunity to the best possible learning experiences. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 

5.1 Education is a key priority in the Council’s Improvement Plan with challenging targets 
for improvement being set. 
 

5.2 The recently drafted RARS strategy is being presented to Council on 25th November 
2020. 
 

5.3 Actions from service areas across and beyond the Council to support the aims of the 
RARS strategy are being worked up. 
 

5.4 The support from the CSC is outlined in Appendix 1 – it is important to note that the 
RARS strategy is a five-year plan so further detail will be provided to members 
throughout the lifetime of the strategy. 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1 By Autumn 2023, ensure at least 75% of reported outcomes are at, or above 
modelled outcomes for similar schools across Wales. 
 

6.2 Leadership at all levels in our schools to be externally evaluated to be at least good. 
 

6.3 Teaching and learning in all our schools to be externally evaluated to be at least 
good. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 

7.1 Ensure that schools leaders are given the opportunity to engage with the support. 
 

7.2 Provide local authority officers with termly impact reports of outputs from support. 
 

7.3 Produce an overview of support from all service areas against the priorities of the 
RARS strategy to share with schools and members. 
 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 

8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

Best start to life: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals. 

 

 

Page 6



 
 
 
 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
PORTFOLIO LEAD  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

Appendix 1 

‘Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards’ – Working in Partnership with Central South 

Consortium 

Introduction 

Central South Consortium (CSC) is the school improvement partner for all schools in Merthyr Tydfil. We are fully committed in 
supporting the Local Authority in achieving the goals that have been set out in the ‘Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards’ (RARS) 
strategy. The Local Authority requested CSC to identify how it will support the commitments and actions pledged in the RARS 
strategy. We have therefore, put together a plan which outlines the support that CSC will provide to schools as a key partner. We 
recognise that well-being, inclusion of all learners, developing the workforce and high quality teaching is integral to the plan in terms 
of post pandemic recovery and sustainable, longer term aspirations for learners.  

 

Our Approach 

This document contains a high level overview outlining the significant support CSC will deliver over three years in order to contribute 
to the Local Authority’s success in delivering its RARS strategy.  Alongside this document are more detailed CSC strategic 
improvement plans.  These will be developed by strategic advisors in conjunction with school leaders and improvement partners.  

The plan supports the development of the Curriculum for Wales. The plan creates a platform for school leaders to work together in a 
positive collaboration for the benefit of all pupils in Merthyr following the principles of the OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development) ‘Schools as Learning Organisations’ model. These are: 

 

• Developing and sharing a vision centred on the learning of all students 
• Creating and supporting continuous learning opportunities for all staff  
• Promoting team learning and collaboration among all staff 

• Establishing a culture of inquiry, innovation and exploration 
• Embedding systems for collecting and exchanging knowledge and learning 
• Learning with and from the external environment and larger learning system 
• Modelling and growing learning leadership. 

 

P
age 9



 
 

2  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

 
 
The solutions to raising standards across the schools involved can be found within Merthyr Tydfil schools. Fostering collaboration 
amongst leaders across the schools will improve the sharing of good practice so that schools will be able to support each other 
effectively.  In essence, the strengths and effective skills set exhibited by one school could be shared with another school to 
address its own improvement priorities.  This plan will allow CSC to work with schools to unlock the expertise, share good practices 
that will impact positively on raising standards and find a local solution to ensuring excellence across Merthyr schools.  
 
In this plan we set out: 

 CSC key areas of focus 

 Why Merthyr Schools will be better places because of their involvement in this plan 

 What we will deliver and when 

 Impact on outcomes 

 Evaluation 

 Associated risks 
 

This year more than ever, plans may need to adapt and change to deal with the high level of uncertainty which faces us due to Covid 
19. We also need to be mindful that all timescales in the plan are provisional until the plan is shared with Headteachers by the Local 
Authority. 

 

Our focus is to: 

 Empower Headteachers and Senior Leaders to robustly lead and manage school improvement  

 Empower school leaders and practitioners to confidently plan for and implement curriculum reform  

 Empower Governing Bodies to robustly lead and manage school improvement  

 Empower middle leaders to know, understand and enact their role in securing school improvement  

 Improve standards of teaching and assessment   

 Improve provision and standards of literacy, numeracy and digital competency   

 

P
age 10



 
 

3  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

 
 

Why Merthyr Tydfil Schools will be better places because of their involvement in this plan: 
 
Learner outcomes will improve and that these improvements are sustainable over time giving Merthyr students the 
opportunity to access further education, training and employment opportunities. 
 

 Successfully embedding the principles of the OECD ‘Schools as Learning Organisations’.  

 Excellent standards of leadership (including governance) across the borough in all settings 

 Collaborative professionalism 

 Equity for all learners 

 Clear lines of communication between schools and stakeholders 

 Schools are fully prepared and teachers are confident in delivering Curriculum for Wales 

 A curriculum which addresses local and national need 

 Authentic learning experiences and enrichment activities that raise learners’ aspirations 

 High quality professional learning to provide a highly skilled workforce across the borough 

 A common understanding of the improvement journey of all learners and how we collaboratively signpost them to success 

 Multi agency approach – sharing of knowledge and information in the system to best support children 

 Excellent quality first teaching in all settings 

 All children have a quality learning experience which meets their needs 

 Bespoke individual learning pathways 

 Effective and seamless transition arrangements for learners 

 

 

 

 

P
age 11



 
 

4  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

 

 

Strategic Objectives: 

Over the lifetime of the plan CSC support will focus on: 

1. Improving leadership at all levels across the system to ensure schools can implement and manage change 

2. Ensuring all schools are ready to implement Curriculum for Wales from 2022 

3. Improve the quality of teaching and learning to ensure at consistently good teaching across every year and subject 

4. Improve literacy and numeracy skills to ensure that all learners have the foundations in place to make effective progress  

 

In year 1 the focus will be: 

 Improving leadership across the system with a particular focus on secondary schools and school governance 

 Curriculum Reform – all schools 

 Developing teaching and learning 

 Improving provision and standards in literacy – Oracy focus 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 12



 
 

5  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

 

Objective 1 – Improving leadership at all levels across the system to ensure schools can implement and manage change 

Focus: Leadership – Senior leaders  Participating schools:  High schools & 
PRU 

LA Lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Sue Walker 

Vaughan Davies  

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Empower 
Headteachers and 
Senior Leaders 
lead effective 
schools that have 
aspirational 
targets for all 
pupils 
 

School vision and aims clearly 
understood and realised by the wider 
school community 
 
Leadership when externally evaluated 
is at least good. 
 
Robust school self-evaluation and 
improvement planning leading to 
measurable impact on improved 
standards  
 
Leadership posts filled 
 

2 days PL on ‘Inspirational 
Leadership’ with Ten 
Development 22nd 23rd 
January 2020 plus follow 
up day Nov 2020 on 
‘Managing change’ and 
‘Building teams’ with Ten 
Development 
 
 
Remainder of SLT plus 
heads of core subjects from 
each school Nov 2020, 2 
days PL on ‘Inspirational 
Leadership’ with ‘Ten 
Development’ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model shows that PL is 
impacting on behaviours across the school 
 
Schools monitoring & evaluation systems demonstrate 
pupils are making progress towards targets 

P
age 13



 
 

6  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

 

Focus: Leadership – middle leaders Participating schools:  High 
schools 
& PRU 

LA lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Anthony Lewis 

Vaughan Davies  

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Middle leaders to 
know, understand 
and enact their 
role raising and 
sustaining 
standards   

Defined departmental vision, aims and 
goals 
 
Clear understanding of their role and 
responsibilities  
 
Knowledge and skills to hold staff to 
account for provision and standards  
 
Robust self-evaluation used to inform 
improvement planning  
 
 
 
  
 

2 days PL on ‘Inspirational 
Leadership’ with Ten Development 
Nov 2020  
 
CSC to design and deliver bespoke 
national accredited middle leaders 
programme for 3 x core subject 
HODs. 
Programme consists of 10 x 2hr 
facilitated sessions with playlists 
(tasks and pre-reading) to 
complete in between. 
School HT/SLT act as coaches for 
the participants and also 
participate in the PL programme as 
facilitators of activities. 
 
HODs to enact the PL from the 
programme – during and after, 
embedding what is learnt. 
 
HT/SLT to support with school 
based practice. 

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model that PL is 
impacting on behaviours across the school 
 
 
Headteacher/SLT monitoring and evaluation of 
impact on provision on standards through schools’ 
MER processes - supported by IP and CSC strategic 
team, this will include: 

 Middle leaders Self Evaluation documents 

 Pupil progress data and evidence of 
interventions and effective hybrid learning  

 

P
age 14



 
 

7  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

Focus: Leadership – Governors  Participating schools:  All 
schools 
and 
PRU 

LA Lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Gary Winston 

Emma Wilmott   

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Developing 
governing bodies 
as effective leaders 
in schools 
 

All governors fully understand their 
role and responsibilities in securing 
school improvement  
 
School vision and aims clearly 
understood and realised by governors 
 
Bespoke governor Improvement 
Programme in place to support 
governors 
 
 
 

Merthyr Improving Governance 
programme established and 
developed in conjunction with GIGs 

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model that PL is 
impacting on behaviours across the school 
 
External evaluation shows governance is effective  
 
Governors engaging with the wider school 
community 

  

P
age 15



 
 

8  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

Objective 2 - Ensuring all schools are ready to implement Curriculum for Wales from 2022 

Focus: Curriculum Reform   Participating schools:  All schools and 
PRU 

LA Lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Sarah Bowen 

Kathryn Lewis  

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Empower school 
leaders and 
practitioners to 
confidently plan 
for and implement 
curriculum reform  
 

All HT, SLT and governors fully 
understand their role and 
responsibilities in curriculum reform  
 
Schools meet the shared expectations 
milestones   
 
School curriculum vision developed 
and realised  
 
Schools plan and implement a 
coherent and sequenced curriculum 
to meet the needs of their learners to 
embody the four purposes    
 
 
 

Schools to engage with CSC 
Strategy for Equity and 
Excellence, re: curriculum 
reform – supported by IP 
 
School to engage with 
shared expectations 
document to plan and 
implement Curriculum for 
Wales in their schools  
 
Schools engage with the 
national and regional PL 
programme for curriculum 
reform  
 
Schools work effectively 
within their clusters in 
curriculum planning and 
sequences to meet the 
needs of their learners  
 

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model that PL is impacting 
on behaviours across the school 
 
Headteacher/SLT monitoring and evaluation of impact on 
provision on standards through schools’ MER processes - 
supported by IP and CSC strategic team, this will include: 

 Evidence that all shared expectation milestones are 
met 

 

 

P
age 16



 
 

9  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

Objective 3 - Improve the quality of teaching and learning to ensure at consistently good teaching across every year and 

subject 

Focus: Teaching & Assessment  Participating schools:  All  LA Lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Jill Watkins 

Louise Muteham  

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Improve standards 
of teaching and 
assessment   

High expectations and 
challenge for all pupils 
consistent across the 
school  
 
Aspirational targets set for 
all pupils  
 
Teaching and learning 
policy agreed, known, 
understood implemented 
consistently  
 
High quality assessment for 
learning known, 
understood implemented 
consistently  
 
Improved outcomes for 
learners 
 
 
 
 

Schools to engage with CSC Strategy for Equity 
and Excellence, re: teaching – supported by IP 
 
High schools/LRBs and CSC IPs attend IRIS PL 
and implement to support raising standards of 
T&L in schools.  
 
Cluster working of T&L leads: 
Engage with CSC 

 PL on teaching models, cognitive science, 
metacognition, high challenge, enquiry, 
etc  

 Schools review current and develop 
common T&L policy - supported by CSC 
strategic team 

 Schools engage with Merthyr College and 
external partners as appropriate to 
support PL related to teaching models  

 Schools review current and develop 
common AfL provision - supported by CSC 
strategic team 

 Schools implement above across their 
schools and monitor the impact through 
enquiry approach 

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model that PL is 
impacting on behaviours across the school 
 
Headteacher/SLT monitoring and evaluation of 
impact on provision on standards through schools’ 
MER processes - supported by IP and CSC strategic 
team, this will include: 
 

 Learners achieve personal targets and make 
at least expected progress. 

 Evidence of learning strategies that meet 
pupil needs 

 
 

P
age 17



 
 

10  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

Objective 4 Improve literacy and numeracy skills to ensure that all learners have the foundations in place to make 

effective progress  

Focus: Literacy  Participating schools:  All 
schools 
& 
settings 

LA Lead:  

CSC Lead:  

Chris Hole 

Cath Billington-Richards  

Objectives Success criteria Actions Monitoring and evaluation 

Improve provision 
and standards of 
literacy   

Voice 21 oracy development 
implemented across all 
Merthyr schools for all staff 
 
High expectations and 
consistent strategies for 
oracy evident across the 
school 
 
Cluster vision for oracy 
clearly established. High 
expectations and consistent 
strategies for oracy evident 
across the cluster 
 
Robust self-evaluation 
process used to monitor 
impact 
 
 
Increased understanding of 
vocabulary development by 

V21 strategy 

 V21 leads in each school to 
complete CSC e-learning 
module on moving forward 
with V21 

 4 x 0.5 days group coaching for 
V21 leads focused on 
progressing V21 roll out within 
school. Secondary and primary 
separate sessions to facilitate 
specific needs of sector. 

 4 x 0.5 days bespoke cluster 
working developing a cluster 
led approach to oracy based on 
V21 strategies  

 

 Vocabulary development 
strategy. At least one member 
of staff from each 
department/year group, 
Literacy coordinator and SLT 
literacy lead to complete CSC-

Evaluation of PL using Kirkpatrick model that PL is impacting 
on behaviours across the school 
 
Headteacher/SLT monitoring and evaluation of impact on 
provision and standards through schools’ MER processes – 
supported by IP and CSC strategic team and will include: 
 

 Clear evidence of improvement in vocabulary seem 
in pupils’ books and through discussion 

 

 Evidence that the vocabulary framework is being 
used across schools and impacting on learners 
 

 Teachers make progress in their oracy teaching and 
show progress from the baseline. 

P
age 18



 
 

11  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

al staff in each curriculum 
area. 
 
School vision and 
expectations for teaching 
vocabulary clearly defined. 
Teaching and learning policy 
adjusted to reflect this.  
 
High expectations and 
consistent strategies for 
teaching of vocabulary 
evident across the school. 
 
Cluster vision for the 
teaching of vocabulary 
clearly established.  
High expectations and 
consistent strategies for the 
teaching of vocabulary 
evident across the cluster. 
 
Robust self-evaluation 
process used to monitor 
impact of the strategy from 
the base line assessments 
 
 

e-learning module on 
vocabulary teaching. 

 

 3 x 0.5 days group coaching for 
literacy leads to develop a 
school wide approach to the 
teaching of vocabulary. 
Secondary and primary 
separate sessions to facilitate 
specific needs of the sector 

 

 3 x 0.5 x days bespoke cluster 
working developing a cluster 
led approach to the teaching of 
vocabulary 

 

 

 

P
age 19



 
 

12  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

What we will deliver and when 

The table below sets out our ambitious delivery timescales, these will be amended throughout the year in light of the current 

situation and school circumstances. It also indicates where there is a measurable output that can be shared with stakeholders, 

some of the activities will not produce specific outputs but will be essential for delivering other outputs. We have also recognised 

the continued importance of developing the Welsh language across the schools and will be supporting schools to achieve Cymraeg 

Campus Bronze Awards throughout the year. 

 2020 – 2021  
          

Obj Focus  Activity Start 
Date  

Output Output 
completion 

 Stakeholder buy in  Agree all timescales with headteachers 
for all elements of the plan 
 

By 
October 
half term 
2020 

  

2 Curriculum reform All Schools to engage with CSC Strategy 
for Equity and Excellence regarding 
curriculum reform – supported by their 
improvement partner which will allow 
them to design adopt and implement a 
new curriculum in line with the shared 
expectations document. 
 

After 
October 
half term 
2020 

Curriculum plans 
developed 

Primary 
teaching 
September 
2022 
 
Secondary 
from Sep 
2022 rollout 

4 Literacy – Oracy  Voice 21 initiative is launched in primary 
and secondary schools. E-learning 
modules launched for literacy leads. 

After 
October 
half term 
2020 

  

4 Literacy  - Vocabulary Work commences on development of 
Vocabulary Strategy with all schools.  
 

After 
October 
half term 
2020 

Vocabulary Framework 
developed and shared 
with all schools 
 

July 2021 

P
age 20



 
 

13  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

3 Teaching and 
Assessment  

CSC Welsh in education officers will 
support schools throughout the academic 
year towards verification for Cymraeg 
Campus.  

November 
2020 

11 additional primary 
schools and 1 secondary 
Cymraeg Campus Bronze 
Award  

July 2021 

1 Leadership – Senior 
Leaders  

Resume Professional Learning for Senior 
Leaders ‘Inspirational Leadership, 
‘Managing Change’ and ‘Building Teams’ 
in High Schools and PRU ‘  
 

By the 
end of 
November 
2020 

Evidence of course 
completion 
 

July 2021 

3 Teaching and 
Assessment  

High schools/LRBs and CSC IPs attend 
IRIS Professional Learning and 
implement it to support raising standards 
of teaching and learning in schools.  
 

 

By the 
end 
December 
2020 

  

4 Literacy – Oracy  CSC Voice 21 coaching programme 
commences with literacy leads in 
schools.  
 
Base line data set established 
 

By the 
end of 
December 
2020 

Register of trained 
coaches  
 
 
Baseline data set at 
School and LA level 

April 2021 
 
 
 
July 2021 
 

1 Leadership – 
Governance  

Governors’ professional learning 
programme for governors of all schools 
commences. 
 
 

By the 
end of 
January 
2020 

TBC July 2021 

1 Leadership – Middle 
Leaders 

‘Inspirational Leadership, Building Teams 
and Managing Change’ programme is 
launched with heads of core subjects in 
high schools and PRU. 
 

By the 
end of 
January 
2020 

Evidence of course 
completion 

July 2021 

P
age 21



 
 

14  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

3 Teaching and 
Assessment   

All schools to commence engagement 
with CSC Strategy for Equity and 
Excellence regarding teaching and 
assessment supported by Improvement 
Partners 

 
By 
February 
half term 
2021 

Teaching and learning 
strategy in all schools 
 

July 2021 

1 Leadership – Middle 
Leaders 

Delivery of bespoke national accredited 
middle leaders programme for heads of 
core subjects in high schools and PRU is 

launched.  
 

By Easter 
2021 

Evidence that tasks have 
been completed and 
impact on the school 
 

July 2021 

3 Teaching and 
Assessment 

Cohort 1 - Engagement with Merthyr 
College begins to support Professional 
Learning related to effective teaching 
models (OTP) 

By Easter 
2021 

The output will need to be 
agreed with the college 

 

4 Literacy – Oracy  Voice 21 approaches and strategies 
cascaded in all schools.  
 

By Easter 
2021 

  

4 Literacy – Vocabulary  Literacy champions cascade training in all 
schools 

By Easter 
2021 

Literacy champions group 
established 

May 2021 

 Collaboration – 
CSC/Schools 

CSC and LA officers will in collaboration 
with schools commence planning the 
details of activities for the second year of 
the programme 
 

By Easter 
2021 

Year 2 plan developed September 
2021 

4 Literacy – Oracy & 
Vocabulary 

Monitoring activities commence in all 
schools to evaluate the impact of training.  
 
Cluster working for oracy approaches 
begins. Clusters define vision for oracy & 
vocabulary 
 

By July 
2021 

Evaluation of  the impact 
of training informs next 
steps in programme  
 
 
Cluster vision for oracy 
clearly established. 

June 2021 

P
age 22



 
 

15  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

3 Teaching and 
Assessment 
 
 

Cohort 2 - Engagement with Merthyr 
College begins to support Professional 
Learning related to effective teaching 
models 

By July 
2021 

The output will need to be 
agreed with the college 

 

 

2021-22 and 2022-23 

The approach to delivery in years two and three will contain similar actions as outlined above in year one but will move from the 

introductory phase through to consolidation and embedded practice by 2022-23. In addition, support for numeracy skills for schools 

will be introduced in 2021-22 with support for digital competency skills being introduced in 2022-23.  

 

Impact on Outcomes 

By delivering the actions in the plan CSC believe that: 

 Standards will improve across the system and that this is sustainable beyond the life of the strategy. We know this will 

happen because: 

o All Headteachers, senior leaders, middle leaders and governors will fully understand their role and responsibilities in 

securing school improvement and have the knowledge and skills to hold staff to account for provision and standards 

o School vision and aims will be clearly understood and realised in all schools 

o Robust school self-evaluation and improvement planning will lead to measurable impact on improved standards.  

o Evidence in pupils’ books will show that all pupils will make at least expected progress 

o All Headteachers, senior leaders, middle leaders and governors fully understand their role and responsibilities in 

curriculum reform  

o Schools will meet the shared expectations milestones of curriculum reform  

o Schools’ curriculum vision will be developed and realised in all schools 

o All schools will plan and implement a coherent and sequenced curriculum to meet the needs of their learners to 

embody the four purposes (in line with the Curriculum for Wales roll out)  

o Cluster working will be embedded and highly effective in self-improving system within Merthyr 

P
age 23



 
 

16  Central South Consortium - Empowering Schools to Improve Outcomes for All Learners 
 

o The adaptive capacity model in the CSC Excellence and Equity Strategy will be a key scaffold for improvement 

conversations with schools to ensure that specific targeted professional learning is appropriately deployed. 

o Teaching and learning policies will be agreed, known, understood and implemented consistently by increasing 

number of practitioners in schools 

o High expectations and consistent strategies for literacy, numeracy and digital competency will be evident across all 

schools 

o High quality assessment for learning will be known, understood and implemented consistently by increasing number 

of practitioners in schools 

o High expectations and challenge will exist for all pupils consistent across all schools 

o Evidence in pupils’ books will show that all pupils will make at least expected progress 

o All schools will have achieved at least the Cymraeg Campus Bronze Award 

 

Evaluation 

CSC will regularly evaluate and report the impact of the strategies contained within this plan by: 

 Using the Kirkpatrick model 

 The Improvement Partners for each school and CSC strategic staff will support headteachers and senior leaders in 

monitoring and evaluating the impact on provision and standards through the schools’ MER processes.  

Associated Risks 

 The potential of further disruption to schools and their communities because of the current Covid 19 pandemic 

 As schools manage the day to day challenges of Covid this may limit the capacity to implement the plan and may prevent 

schools working together. 

 Professional learning is not taken to scale in each setting and rests with the small cohorts that attend any training. 

 An overly uniform approach is taken to teaching and learning that does not take account the context of each school and setting. 

 Links between all improvement areas not made explicit leading to pockets of practice rather that overall school improvement. 

 Quality of release cover for participating practitioners  

P
age 24



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Corporate Self-Evaluation – Key Question 2 
(Incorporating Inspection Area 2 of Estyn 
Framework) 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Self-evaluation is a useful process that is rigorous and enables Chief Officers, Heads 

of Service and officers to be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision 
and leadership and management. 
 

1.2 Following a refocus exercise of documentation to ensure it continued to meet the 
organisation’s needs; the Council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT) approved 
the re-introduction of the corporate self-evaluation process in May 2019.    
 

1.3 Completion of the process is undertaken in ‘bite-sized’ chunks on a question-by-
question basis.  This aims to support all officers involved to contribute to the process 
whilst maintaining their ability to manage multiple other priorities. 

 
1.4 This report focuses on the completion of the self-evaluation undertaken by the 

Learning Department in relation to Key Question 2 (Provision and Service Delivery).  
The response directly relates to the Best Start to Life theme laid down in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan: Focus on the Future.  It also meets the requirements of the 
Estyn Inspection Framework – the inspectorate for education within Wales. 
 

1.5 This report and its appendices highlight the key findings of the self-evaluation 
activity; outlines areas of good practice along with areas for development; and 
identifies the priorities for improvement which are incorporated in our Business 
Improvement Plan. 

 

Date Written 7th October 2020 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning  

Committee Date 19th October 2020 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Committee Members to provide officers with feedback on the content of the 

report developed through completion of the self-evaluation process. 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Self-evaluation is a business process that is rigorous and enables organisations to 

be critically reflective about outcomes, service provision and leadership and 
management.  In 2013/14, the Council introduced a self-evaluation process which 
was completed by officers at Head of Service level.  The format of the challenge 
sessions was based on high-level challenge in a session lasting 2-2½ hours; with a 
number of Heads of Service. 

 
3.2 From using lessons learned over previous years, the format of the challenge of self-

evaluation was developed.  Self-evaluation was undertaken on a service-level basis, 
with challenge being offered by a Performance Board consisting the Chief Executive, 
Directorate Lead, Portfolio Member and the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee to which 
the service reported.  The key outcome of the process was to identify areas of good 
practice along with priorities for improvement. 

 
3.3 In 2019, a refocus exercise was undertaken to ensure the self-evaluation documents 

continued to meet the organisation’s needs and offered officers completing the forms 
opportunity to outline the current service position, highlight any good practice, note 
areas for development and identify the services’ priorities for improvement.  The 
documents were organised in the form of three key questions: 

 Outcomes; 

 Provision and Service Delivery; and  
 Leadership and Management. 

There was no specific order in which the questions needed to be completed, as long 
as all three questions were completed within the year. 

 
3.4 Following consideration of the updated documents by the Council’s Corporate 

Management Team (CMT); the new format was approved for re-introduction in May 
2019. 
 

3.5 As part of the process cycle supporting the delivery of the self-evaluation process 
(see Appendix 1), it was proposed that completed questions should be presented 
before the sector-specific Scrutiny Committee which normally scrutinises the 
outputs/outcomes for the relevant service area.  This was seen as an opportunity for 
Committee Members to review and explore facets of the wide range of activities for 
which Chief Officers were accountable; whilst for services, it was seen as an 
opportunity for details of their services to be brought before Scrutiny to outline 
positive practice and achievements along with any challenges faced and areas for 
development. 
 

3.6 Committee Members are asked to review the content of the completed questions and 
consider performance, areas of good practice, areas for development and, perhaps 
most importantly, the services’ priorities for improvement for the coming year.  
Scrutineers’ feedback will be used when considering how these priorities will be 
progressed. 

Page 26



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1  In previous years, the Council had undertaken self-evaluation activities annually on a 

service by service basis.  The process required Heads of Service to review 
project/programme activity and reflect on what had been achieved, as well as 
identifying what needed to be prioritised next with a view to planning what should be 
done in order to meet the identified priorities for improvement. 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 The overall judgement for KQ2: Provision and Service Delivery has been assessed 

as Adequate. A breakdown of the judgements has been included below. The 

rationale for each judgement can be found in Appendix 2 of this report. 
 

 How well does the service engage with corporate support services to help 
improve service provision and delivery? Adequate 

 How well does the service understand and take advantage of opportunities for 
collaboration and partnership working? Adequate 

 How well does the service understand and use the sustainable development 
principle (the five ways of working)? Adequate 

Support for:  

 School improvement: Unsatisfactory 

 Vulnerable learners: Adequate 

 Other education support services: Adequate 

 
5.2 There are strengths in provision provided 

 The department receives good support from Accountancy to ensure budgets are 
managed effectively 

 Support from the Legal department is effective in the very few tribunals that arise 
from Statementing processes 

 All schools have support from Improvement Partners 

 Good support for schools to improve standards of Welsh across schools 

 Established ALNCo Forums for schools with a detailed agenda for introduction of 
the expectations for the new ALNET Act 

 Good variety of support for schools and settings in relations to ALN in particular 
Education Psychologists and School Support 

 Good systems for identifying and supporting young people at danger of being Not 
in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 

 Good support for vulnerable groups such a Gypsy Travellers and children with 
English as an Additional Language (EAL) 

 Improved relationships with The College 
 
5.3 However there are a number of areas that need improvement so that they impact on 

the department and on standards in schools – the key priorities for raising standards 
are identified in 7.0 below but there continues to be a need for all service areas 
including schools to realise their role in ensuring the wider goals of the Raising 
Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy are met. 
 

5.4 We need also to reflect in section 2.4 of Appendix 2 the impact of work all service 
areas have on school outcomes. 
 

5.5 The goals have been shared with Headteachers and Governors and are: Page 27



 to raise standards across all educational settings 

 ensure the services within the local authority provide equality of opportunity for all 
children and young people 

 ensure funding for our schools is fair and equitable, needs based and efficient 
 
5.6 During this academic year these goals will be addressed through the following key 

priorities 

 Activities to support the development of literacy – in particular, vocabulary 

 Activities to develop leadership – in particular across our secondary schools 

 Activities to develop more consistency in teaching & learning 

 Activities to support the work of governing bodies 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE  
 
6.1 By Autumn 2023 ensure at least 75% of reported outcomes are at or above 

modelled outcomes for schools across Wales. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 

7.1 In relation to provision within and across the Learning Department 

 Publish the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy  

 Improve the quality of leadership at all levels (particularly middle leaders), 
including governance through increased engagement through CSC Leadership 
Programmes.  

 Improve the quality of teaching and learning especially in primary schools 

 Improve wellbeing of all pupils but particularly SEBD pupils and other vulnerable 
groups. 

 Work with Children’s Services to improve outcomes for CLA. 

 Develop a more effective and co-ordinated use of Capita One across LGES, 
including Inclusion, ALN, Admissions, Early Years, NEETs, YSS and agree a 
corporate position for use of Capita One within Early Intervention/Preventative 
services. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 

8.1 The corporate self-evaluation process is based around the services/activities 
delivered and should reflect the contributions made in relation to the four wellbeing 
objectives laid down by the Council in the Corporate Wellbeing Plan. 

 
8.2 This report specifically links to the Best Start to Life objective within the Council’s 

Corporate Wellbeing Plan: Children and young people get the best start to life and 
are equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals 
 

8.3  Through completion of other self-evaluation responses; we will also be able to 
demonstrate our team’s contribution to support progress against the following 
objectives: 

 People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health; and 

 People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of 

Page 28



businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure that establishes Merthyr Tydfil 
as an attractive destination. 

 
 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 29



Appendix 1 

 
Self-Evaluation Process Cycle: 4 months x 3 

 
 
    Internal challenge      External challenge 
 
 
 
 
 

                  
          
     

SER Question # 
Evidence and 
judgment 

 ESLT              

 CRPPH             According to 

 SMB                CO structure 

 SLT 

 TBC 

Scrutiny 

SER  

Question # 
SER  

Question # 

SER  
Question # 

On completion of the 3 key questions; thematic Performance 
Board sessions would be scheduled in Months 12-13 - here there 

would be challenge on the overall position statement 

Months  

1-2  

Month 3 

Month 4 

Months  

5-6  

Months  

9-10  

Month 7 Month 11 

Month 8 Month 12 

P
age 30



Performance Board 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Analysis of commonalities     Report to CMT to identify support needed to drive 
improvement 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

BEST START 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

WORKING LIFE 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
WELLBEING 

Overall Position Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

LIVING WELL 
 
Overall Position 
Statement 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

Priorities for 
Improvement  
 
 
 
 
 
Business Improvement 
Plans 

 

SUMMONING 
CIRCLE 

Best Start 

Working Life 

Environmental Wellbeing 

Living Well 

Finance & 

Accounting 

HR & Legal 

IC
T 

Corporate 
Communications 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 31 
 

 

 

                                                               

Question 2:  Provision and Service Delivery 

Education Services 

SUMMARY STATEMENT 

 
 

 

 

 

2.1 How well does the service engage with corporate support 
services to help improve service provision and delivery? 

Adequate 

2.2 How well does the service understand and take advantage of 
opportunities for collaboration and partnership working? 

Adequate 

2.3 
 
 
2.4 
 
 

How well does the service understand and use the 
sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working)? 

Support for school improvement, vulnerable learners and 
other education support services 

Adequate 
 
 
Adequate 

 

REMEMBER:  

When completing your form, please try to be evaluative rather than descriptive and focus on the impact and 

outcomes for people and the environment.  In your evaluation identify what you consider to be strengths and areas 

for improvement and be brief, referencing the supporting evidence.  Responses should consider the requirement to 

demonstrate the five ways of working; (e.g.) capture the requirements and contributions of collaborative working 

arrangements etc. 

Please Note:   

Evidence supporting the judgments recorded in response to Question 2.3 can be attached: this should be labelled as 

Appendix 3 

 

 

 

 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council 

Self-Evaluation Report  

Question 2: Provision and Service Delivery 

Governance (for Performance & Scrutiny use only) 

Date: 

Form completed and received:  09/10/2020 

Internal challenge - session:   30/09/2020 

Corporate Management Team session:         

Reviewed at Scrutiny:           19/10/2020 

Page 33



Page 2 of 31 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.1:  How well does the service engage with corporate support services to help improve service 
provision and delivery? 
 
 
 

 
Adequate 

     

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 The quality and frequency of contact with support services; 

 Whether the support received enabled the service to improve provision and delivery 

 

 
                                                      
 

 

Accountancy Regular support from accountancy allows for the department to maintain a good 
overview of expenditure. The level of support from this service is consistent and of 
good standard. 

Business Change Contact and engagement with this service is sporadic but where required the support 
has been timely and effective. 

Corporate 
Communications 

Lack of capacity within this service has on times led to time delay in publication and 
lack of support for consultations, however during the recent pandemic the support 
and timeliness of social media postings has been excellent. 

Corporate Support 
Services (Business 
Services) 

During the recent pandemic the support from this department has been good and has 
ensured direct payments for Free School Meals and mail merging for vouchers were 
delivered timely and effectively. 

Customer Support 
(Contact Centre) 

Too often, enquiries are transferred to incorrect members of staff which does not 
allow for confidence in the service. 

Emergency Planning Contact with this service area is limited to as and when required – support was good 
when business continuity and emergency planning was being updated in schools 
during 2018. 

Human Resources (HR) Advice and support can be mixed and therefore can lead to confusion amongst 
officers as to the correct approach to take. Job evaluations often take too long to 
complete. Correspondence is not always timely although is improving.  
 
DBS checks are completed in a timely manner. However, support around HR 
Administrative tasks is variable. There are sometimes delays in the administrative 
processes for new starters e.g. paperwork such as new starter forms, references being 
processed etc. 

ICT and Print Services 
Support from IT is not always available at the time needed e.g. officers who work early 
or late and experience difficulties cannot access IT support. Additionally, ICT project 
forms and ICT requests/ call logs are not always dealt with in a timely manner 
although during the pandemic the response has been very good. Support from IT 
during the recent pandemic has been excellent and the service continues to be 
responsive to the ongoing demands arising from the pandemic.  

Print services are responsive, supportive and provide a timely service. Capacity of 
print services may be an issue in the future. 

Internal Audit When requested, initial audits do take place in a timely manner, however the reports 
themselves are often produced many months after the initial audit takes place. The 
timeline and expectations are not always clear. 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 34



Page 3 of 31 
 

Legal When required, the Legal department provides good support for tribunals; however, 
often support in other areas of Legal is slow in comparison. There is no clarity 
regarding timelines for advice to be provided. 

Performance and 
Scrutiny 

Support is good with often challenging questions asked to ensure officers explain 
rationale and procedures more effectively. Officers are always willing to support and 
provide critical friend challenge to drive improvement and positive change. 

Procurement and 
Payments 

Systems for procurement have improved during the pandemic situation. Support for 
invoice payments is consistently good, with payments and payment queries processed 
in a timely manner. A move to a comprehensive and consistent use of an online model 
of invoice authorisation is needed as this is only currently available via P2P. 

Revenues, Benefits & 
Financial Assessment 

The only real engagement that the Learning Department has with this particular 
support service is through support for identification of pupils eligible for free school 
meals, which is timely. 

Risk, Equalities and 
Welsh Language 

Limited contact/ engagement with Risk and Equalities due to capacity of these 
particular areas. There is a good level of support from the Welsh Language officer due 
to strong links with Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP). 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Officers meet with Accountancy on a regular basis to review budgets and where necessary profile grants in 
response to budget changes at a national level. This includes developing costed scenarios in response to service 
developments or service reductions as required. Finance officers are responsive to requests and greatly assist in 
planning all financial aspects of the services, including developing improved systems for financial forecasting.  
 
Throughout the pandemic both IT and Corporate Communications have worked effectively to ensure that 
information was available on the web site and through social media to keep families informed about how to 
access childcare both in schools and through the community settings. This has continued with reshaping pages to 
then reflect the summer childcare offer and now the impact of Covid-19 on schools in the first few weeks of 
September.   
 

Additionally support from IT has enabled the service to move to remote working quickly and to set up new models 
of service delivery i.e. childcare hubs, free school meals payments/vouchers very efficiently including ongoing 
support for free school meal payments. The service continues to be responsive to the ongoing demands arising 
from the pandemic response.  

 
During the recent pandemic the Corporate Support Services (Business Services) played a key role in ensuring the 
continuation of free school meal provisions through providing support initially for the meal delivery service and 
then for direct payments and mail merging for vouchers were delivered timely and effectively. Revenues and 
Benefits also worked with our School Support Teams to ensure the list of pupils eligible for free school meals was 
kept up to date.  
 
Support from the Legal department is effective in the very few tribunals that arise from statementing processes. 
 
M.T.C.B.C. was one of the best performing authorities across Wales for its Free School Meal deliveries. 
Throughout the period of school closures, representatives from corporate support services, other delivery 
services in the Council along with volunteers, third sector organisations and local support groups came together 
with the Learning Department to ensure the continuity of free school meal deliveries. The engagement with 
officers and volunteers from said services and support groups demonstrates good practice and commitment to 
the SD Principle, (5 ways of working) – through collaborative and integrated working with these services/ support 
groups. The involvement from volunteers and third sector support groups was fundamental in this achievement. 

Good Practice: 

Page 35



Page 4 of 31 
 

 
From a schools perspective - nearly all schools have service level agreements with Accountancy, Payments, IT, 
Legal and HR – these service level agreements are regularly reviewed to ensure they are fit for purpose and 
provide value for money. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 RARS Draft Strategy 

 Scrutiny Reports 

 Self-Evaluation Reports 

 Business Plans/ Business Cases 

 SOAP – Best Start to Life 

 Focus on the Future – Corporate Wellbeing Plan 

 Budget Reports 

 Performance Reports 

 Minutes of (including cross-departmental meetings) 

 Regular email trails 

 Calendar appointments 

 Learning Away Days 

 Case Studies 
 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.1:  How well does the service engage with corporate support services to help improve service 
provision and delivery? 

 

 
 
 

 

 More consistency in advice received from HR 

 Reduce the delays in relation to the administrative processes for new starters e.g. paperwork such as new 
starter forms, references being processed etc. 

 Correct signposting of queries from Customer Services (Contact Centre) 

 Improve the timeliness of social media posts and publications to ensure that information is shared on time 

 Consideration should be given to delivering a more flexible IT service to meet the needs of staff requests 
within the established bandwidth. Between the hours of 7am and 8:30am; and past 5pm there is no ICT 
support if required 

 More consistency in response times for ICT Project requests/ call log requests 

 A move to a comprehensive and consistent use of an online model of invoice authorisation is needed as 
this is only currently available via P2P 

 Support in relation to Adult Community learning through the reshaping and coordination of a corporate 
data team and staff capacity is hampering the ability to fulfil the requirements of the LLWYR system and 
produce statutory returns to Welsh Government but is now in the process of being addressed by the 
relevant corporate service 

 The production of premises hire agreements for independent groups within council premises is often 
extremely time consuming  through the multiple departments involved and often means external 
organisations become extremely frustrated  with the delays in getting these agreements into place 

Evidence: 

Areas for Development: 

Page 36



Page 5 of 31 
 

 Development of a corporate data team to optimise resource capacity, resilience and specialist skills to 
support a more effective use of Capita One across education service 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 Development of a corporate data team to optimise resource capacity, resilience, and specialist skills to 
support a more effective use of Capita One across education service 

 
 
 

  

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



Page 6 of 31 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.2:  How well does the service understand and take advantage of opportunities for collaboration and  
                           partnership working? 
 
 
 

 
Adequate 

EVALUATION: When answering the question, consider the following: 
 

 Contribution to existing strategic partnership plans 

 Joint outcomes with other services 

 Existing regional collaborations 

 Partnership with the private or third sectors 

 Partnership with public agencies 
 

 
 
 

 
Further information around collaborative working arrangements with strategic partners and key stakeholders is 
covered in section 2.4 of this report. 
 
 
Within maintained schools the main service delivery is through the regional Consortium- Central South 
Consortium (CSC). The provision and support from CSC is variable, and can only be judged as adequate at best. 
This is because, whilst there are many positives through engagement with CSC, there are still issues around 
standards and attainment across all school levels.  
 
Effective relationships exist between the Local Authority (LA) and the local consortium (CSC) in addition to the 
collaborative culture and positive relationships that have been forged between schools and the CSC.  As a result, 
the LA knows its schools very well.  Policies, systems and processes are developed in a collegiate manner and the 
LA has an accurate understanding of the need to work in partnership with schools so that all its vision for ongoing 
school improvement is clear and understood by all of the education community.  This has been further 
strengthened through consultation with key stakeholders such as Headteachers, Governing Bodies and The 
College, Merthyr in the production of the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy (RARS). However, CSC are 
primarily responsible for holding schools to account, and to drive improvement in the quality of leadership and 
teaching in schools across the County Borough. Currently this provision can only be judged at best adequate as 
there is still a definitive need to significantly improve standards and attainment across many schools. 
 
With the new ALNET agenda there is now more regional collaboration with Early Years settings as they prepare for 
its implementation. This partnership is good and early evidence suggests is having strong impact on schools’ 
readiness for the Act. Youth Services and the participation agenda link closely with third sector agencies and this 
work is at least good. The impact on young people is beneficial and the engagement of our young people through 
the Youth forum is recognised nationally as good practice. 
 
ESTYN - The Learning department has a positive, professional working relationship with its regulator (Estyn). 
Across schools in the County Borough a number of good practice case studies were published by Estyn during the 
last academic year. The ESTYN inspection was undertaken in February 2020 and was focussed specifically on Adult 
Community Learning. There were elements of good practice identified during the inspection which have been 
captured in case studies, and the elements of good practice have been reflected in the identified areas of good 
practice in the ‘Good Practice’ section below. 
 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Current Position: 

Page 38



Page 7 of 31 
 

Association of Directors of Education in Wales (ADEW): ADEW is the professional group of local authority officers 
accountable for statutory education functions in each of the Local Authorities in Wales. The Association has a long 
established role in advising on the strategic development and delivery of education and other associated initiates 
on behalf of local authorities in Wales. The vision is to act and, through action, change things for the better. The 
role of education as a universal service is changing but the universal truth is that education is core to meeting the 
needs and enriching the lives of all families and children, including the vulnerable.  
 
The Association is not exclusive to Directors/ Chief Officers; a number of sub-groups are formed to drive 
improvement in specific areas of Education delivery e.g. Governors support groups, finance groups, school 
improvement and ALN, Youth Services groups etc. 
 
The newly established Education Partnership Panel (EPP), involving Head teachers, governors, elected members, 
senior officers, Merthyr College, CSC and the Bevan Foundation is acting as a driver for change and is closely 
monitoring the impact of the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy. 
 
Engagement and communication with The College Merthyr Tydfil is continuously being strengthened. There is an 
increased focus on transition and pathways to provide opportunities for learners to extend their learning 
experience. At key stage 4 alternative curriculum routes continue to be explored for pupils displaying significant 
disaffection or very challenging behaviour, such as those offered at the college. 
 
BETP – Business Education Training Panel: A nucleus group has been set up between the Learning Department and 
Regeneration and Economic Development. The partnership panel has been developed and a concept paper has 
been drafted. The nucleus group will enable flexibility of its members, and there are opportunities for strategic 
partners and key stakeholders to be invited in to help drive the initiatives of the group. Some of the key partners/ 
stakeholders we will seek to engage with include The College Merthyr Tydfil, Careers Wales, work based learning 
providers and school representatives from Primary and Secondary schools e.g. Headteachers; this list is not 
exhaustive, and where the need arises, there is scope for further engagement with wider partners. One of the key 
aims of the working group is to improve effective transition of learners and to proactively target and prevent 
young adults from becoming NEET. Some of the other key purposes of the group are: 
 

 To ensure that economic factors feed future working/focus to raise aspirations of young people 

 Deliver a range of inspiring work-related learning and employability programmes that are based on future 
need 

 Working with businesses to offer a local approach around their business contribution to the community 
using measureable social value plans 

 Work with partners to enhance the current offer of entrepreneurial skills and community enterprise 
 
A Vulnerable Learners Panel has also been established.  This is multi-agency group made up of colleagues from 
EWS, EPS, ALN, Special Tuition, Families First, Youth Support Services, EAL/GT Team, YOS, EHE, CLA.  The LA has 
identified the learners deemed as the most vulnerable.  A Keyworker has been allocated to Keep in Touch with 
these learners. 
 
The Learning Department also engages with Sport Development to improve the wellbeing of pupils within schools 
and to encourage participation of sporting activities throughout all schools. 
 
There is within Merthyr Tydfil a Multi-Agency Partnership structure through the Tackling Poverty Steering Group.  
The partnership has agreed terms of reference and membership currently involves strategic leads in key services, 
social care, education, health and the third sector. 
 
The critical function of this group is to ensure that the funding available is utilised against the key priorities 
identified and in accordance with the vision set out in section 1.  This group allows and encourages partners to 
challenge each other within a controlled environment on individual agency responsibilities compared to the 
purpose of the grants as outlined within the terms and conditions as set by the funding body. Both the population 
needs assessment, and the Wellbeing needs assessments have been utilised when planning or commissioning 

Page 39



Page 8 of 31 
 

against the individual grants, particularly Families First for the Tackling Poverty group to agree the strategic 
direction.  
 
This structure is underpinned more locally by a series of themed approaches which involve a far wider range of 
partners across the community. These groups inform the partnership on the agenda facing these areas of 
expertise and oversee the implementation of the agreed strategic direction:  
• Early Years Partnership 
• NEETS Steering Group 
• Families First Stakeholder partnership 
 
In addition to the above several partnerships are working towards strategic plans including the Community Zone 
Steering group and the Play Sufficiency Steering Group. These groups actively involve third sector partners and 
statutory sectors to take these areas forward. The community zone partnership reports through to the Public 
Services Board.  
 
During the pandemic new partnerships have arisen which have further strengthened partnership working these 
area the Vulnerable learner’s panel and the childcare admissions panel which were implemented throughout the 
lockdown period. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Further information around collaborative working arrangements with strategic partners and key stakeholders is 
covered in section 2.4 of this report.  
 

 The newly established Education Partnership Panel, involving Head teachers, governors, elected 
members, senior officers, Merthyr College, CSC and Bevan Foundation is acting as driver for change and is 
closely monitoring the impact of the Raising Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy. 

 

 In February 2020; ESTYN (the Welsh education inspectorate) undertook an inspection of Adult Community 
Learning; and specifically focussed on Family and Parenting programmes. Key findings of the inspection 
showed: 

 
- Family Programme tutors have comprehensive subject knowledge; 
- Family Programme tutors are effective communicators; 
- Family Programme tutors form strong bonds, building rapport with all learners. 

 
The inspection report highlighted elements of good practice in relation to standards; wellbeing and 
attitudes to learning; teaching and learning experiences; as well as support, guidance and care.  It 
acknowledged all learners worked well on activities designed to teach their children about money through 
everyday experiences. Through these activities, adults, as well as the children, gained a useful 
understanding of current methods of carrying out calculations.  They are now in a position to make steady 
progress in improving their own literacy, numeracy and digital literacy skills and become more confident 
in tasks such as writing CVs, making job applications or using computer software to learn with their 
children.  
 
During 2019-2020; 280 parents engaged with the programme; with 204 (74%) of parents saying, taking 
part improved their self-resilience. 

 

 Response to recommendations/ proposals made by our external regulators is positive, particularly for 
ESTYN.  

Good Practice: 

Page 40



Page 9 of 31 
 

 

 The work of the ALNET Transformation Agenda regional plan is having a positive impact on schools 
 

 The recent work with Stephen’s & George Charitable Trust led to all children and young people eligible for 
free schools meals having the opportunity to take part in a Summer Reading Festival and further 
collaborative events are planned. 

 
 
 
 
 

 Good Practice reports 

 We Love Merthyr Tydfil Reading Facebook page 

 Draft RARS strategy 

 Business Improvement Plans 

 ESTYN Case Studies 

 Stats Wales Data 

 Estyn Appendix and Background paper IA2.1, 2.2, 2.3 

 LA Performance Review Reports 

 LA Performance Review minutes 

 Governor training records 

 Youth Service Strategy 17-20 

 YSS Cabinet Information Report progress since 2015 

 Cabinet Information Report - NEET Prevention & Performance Report 2019 

 Cabinet Information Report - NEETs Strategy Council Approved  

 Cabinet Information Report –Young People’s Participation 2018-19 

 ADEW Schools Capacity Benchmarking Data 
 
 
 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.2:  How well does the service understand and take advantage of opportunities for collaboration 
and partnership working? 

 

 
 
 

 

 Further develop the challenge to CSC in order to prioritise provision to impact more fully on standards of 
attainment particularly at the end of KS4 

 There is a need to engage more widely with third sector organisations to ensure understanding and 
delivery of the RARS strategy. 

 There is a need to start engagement with businesses to ensure understanding and delivery of the RARS 
strategy 

 Improve standards of middle leaders so that they impact positively on improving standards of teaching 
and learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve standards of teaching and learning in many of the secondary schools in the borough.  

 Improve performance in many of the secondary schools in KS4 interim performance measures so that 
outcomes are at least at or above modelled expectations.  

 Improve collaborative working across all clusters with a specific focus on improving outcomes in Literacy, 

Evidence: 

Areas for Development: 

Page 41



Page 10 of 31 
 

Numeracy and DCF skills. 

 Improve the capacity of governing bodies to hold schools to account thereby impacting positively on 
standards of leadership, teaching and learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve the rate of improvement of a minority of red and amber schools ( 3 schools) 

 Ensure there is appropriate provision for pupils with identified additional learning needs at all stages of 
schooling 

 Improve rates of attendance in both primary and secondary schools 

 Review and refresh the early identification toolkit  

 The use of capita one to judge impact of interventions and effectiveness of services 

 Improve the condition of school settings and wider educational settings 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Also reflected in Priorities for Improvement under section 2.4 of the report. 
 

 Further develop the challenge to CSC in order to prioritise provision to impact more fully on standards of 
attainment particularly at the end of KS4 

 To improve approach to holistic collaboration in line with the aims and commitments set out in the RARS 
strategy 

 Improve standards of middle leaders so that they impact positively on improving standards of teaching and 
learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve standards of teaching and learning in many of the secondary schools in the borough.  

 Improve performance in many of the secondary schools in KS4 interim performance measures so that 
outcomes are at least at or above modelled expectations.  

 Improve collaborative working across all clusters with a specific focus on improving outcomes in Literacy, 
Numeracy and DCF skills. 

 Improve the capacity of governing bodies to hold schools to account thereby impacting positively on 
standards of leadership, teaching and learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve the rate of improvement of a minority of red and amber schools (3 schools) 

 Ensure there is appropriate provision for pupils with identified additional learning needs at all stages of 
schooling 

 Improve rates of attendance in both primary and secondary schools 

 Review and refresh the early identification toolkit  

 The use of capita one to judge impact of interventions and effectiveness of services 

 Improve the condition of school settings and wider educational settings 
 
 
 

Priorities for Improvement: 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



Page 11 of 31 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.3:  How well does the service understand and use the sustainable development principle (the five ways of working)? Adequate 

NB:  Only complete the objective relevant to your area- leave the Corporate AREAS BLANK 

Ensure that you place a score in each of the 5 boxes: 0=no evidence; 0.5=some evidence but much to do; 1.0=good evidence but with development needs; 1.5 good 

evidence and embedded practice; 2.0 evidence of being an exemplar for others in this regard. See the Guidance document for a descriptor for each score. 

 Objectives and Corporate Areas of Change 
 

W
ay

s 
o

f 
W

o
rk

in
g 

 

Best Start to Life  Working Life 
Environmental 

wellbeing 
Living Well 

Corporate Support 
Services 

 

Long term 1     
 

Prevention 1.5     
 

Involvement 1.5     
 

Collaboration 1     
 

Integration 1     
 

 

NB:  Evidence supporting judgments ascribed to Question 2.3 can be in Appendix 3 of this report

P
age 43



Page 12 of 31 
 

 

JUDGEMENT:  Adequate 

Once you have assigned a score for each of the 5 ways of working RELEVANT to the Wellbeing objective that the 

service is accountable for, use the performance key below to provide a judgement.  For example, Long Term is 

scored 1.5 in the matrix the judgement is GOOD. 

 

Ways of working  Judgement 

Long term ADEQUATE 

Prevention GOOD 

Involvement GOOD 

Collaboration ADEQUATE 

Integration ADEQUATE 

 

 

SCORE  JUDGEMENT  

2  EXCELLENT  

1.5  GOOD  

1  ADEQUATE and needs improvement  

0-0.5  UNSATISFACTORY and needs urgent improvement  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



Page 13 of 31 
 

QUESTION 2:  PROVISION & SERVICE DELIVERY 

 
     
     

Question 2.4:  Support for school improvement, vulnerable learners and other education support services (To be        
answered by the Education service only) 

 
 
 
 

 
Adequate 

EVALUATION: Please consider the ESTYN Framework when responding to the following: 
 

2.4.1: Support for school improvement: 
 
2.4.2: Support for vulnerable learners: 
 
2.4.3: Other education support services 
 

 

JUDGEMENT

: 

Page 45



Page 14 of 31 
 

INSPECTION AREA 2 – QUALITY OF EDUCATION SERVICES 
 

2.4.1: Support for school improvement   
 
The current position for support for school improvement is unsatisfactory and needs improvement.  The 
strengths outweigh weaknesses, but important aspects require improvement.  
 

 Effective relationships exist between the Local Authority (LA) and the local consortium (CSC) in addition 
to the collaborative culture and positive relationships that have been forged between schools and the 
CSC.  As a result, the LA knows its schools very well.  Policies, systems and processes are developed in a 
collegiate manner and the LA has an accurate understanding of the need to work in partnership with 
schools so that all its vision for ongoing school improvement is clear and understood by all of the 
education community.  This has been further strengthened through consultation with key stakeholders 
such as Headteachers, Governing Bodies and The College, Merthyr in the production of the Raising 
Aspirations, Raising Standards Strategy (RARS).   

 The LA in partnership with the CSC has continued to provide effective monitoring, challenge, support 
and intervention for all schools across the borough, which is bespoke to the needs of the school.  
Categorisation processes are robust and accurate and are carried out in a transparent manner in 
partnership with the Headteacher, Improvement Partner and Governing Body.  Identified schools are 
provided with support packages which fit the needs of their school well and are agreed in a 
collaborative manner by the Headteacher, Improvement Partner and Chair of Governors.  The work of 
Improvement Partners and the reports they produce is monitored closely to ensure consistency of 
approach across all schools.  As a result, schools are provided with very good levels of support for 
ongoing school improvement and this is evidenced from positive outcomes in inspections over the last 
three years with many schools being judged at least good for standards of leadership and management 
and there are no schools in statutory categories following inspections.  In addition, minutes of 
red/amber School Improvement Forums and Corporate Schools Performance Panels also capture 
positive praise for the support received from CSC and LA officers.  

 The LA in partnership with the CSC identify, address and manage the changing needs and 
circumstances of schools well.  Support for red and amber schools consist of bespoke challenge and 
support provided by the CSC Improvement Partner, deployment of CSC Accelerated Progress Leads and 
the effective use of CSC Strategic Advisers who provide Literacy, Numeracy, Science and DCF support.  
Red and amber schools also benefit from school to school support which is brokered by the CSC.  In 
addition, vulnerable schools also benefit from extra resources to aid school improvement via CSC 
Resource Board Requests.  Such requests for extra resources have impacted positively on improving 
standards of teaching, learning and leadership in many schools.  Red and amber schools are required to 
attend a termly (half termly for red schools) School Improvement Forum which is made up of the 
Improvement Partner, Senior Improvement Partner, Accelerated Progress Lead and the Chair of the 
Governing Body.  Senior leaders present a wide range of evidence to demonstrate the progress that the 
school is making towards meeting its priorities for improvement.  The School Improvement Forum for 
red schools is also attended by the Chief Education Officer.  

 In addition to the School Improvement Forum, all amber and red schools have also been required to 
attend Corporate Schools Performance meetings in 2019-20.  Such panels provide an extra layer of 
challenge from the Corporate Management Team (CMT) within the LA and have also allowed schools to 
provide CMT with first hand evidence as to the progress being made towards meeting school 
improvement priorities and also identify any additional  support that schools may need from LA or CSC 
officers.   

Page 46



Page 15 of 31 
 

One of the two amber secondary schools has taken part in the Welsh Government ‘Schools Causing 
Concern’ pilot which adopts a multi-agency approach to providing the school with support and involves 
the LA, WG, Consortium and Estyn.  This multi-faceted approach has proved successful in the main and 
the school has demonstrated strong progress towards meeting the recommendations outlined in the 
action plan and has also demonstrated its capacity to ensure that the rate of improvement is sustained.  

 Overall, schools report that they find the School Improvement Meetings very beneficial and that such 
meetings provide rigour, challenge and a clear focus on the journey to achieving school improvement 
priorities. As a result, many of the schools who are in the red or amber category are making strong 
progress towards meeting their school improvement priorities. One out of the two amber secondary 
schools continues to demonstrate satisfactory progress towards its improvement priorities, however it 
is felt that the pace of improvement remains too slow. In addition, a minority of red or amber schools 
have demonstrated limited progress towards meeting their school improvement priorities and these 
schools are from the primary sector.  

 The LA in partnership with CSC give good attention to improving the quality of teaching. Many schools 
are part of School Improvement Groups (SIG) each of which has a focus on securing improvements in 
many aspects of teaching e.g. pedagogy, assessment, literacy and numeracy. Improvement Partners 
work in collaboration with individual schools to gain first-hand evidence as to standards of teaching 
and learning and provide support to these schools who need to improve practice in this area.  The 
Merthyr Schools as Learning Organisations initiative is committed to ensuring the collaboration of the 
four secondary schools and the PRU to share good practice and improve standards of teaching and 
learning across all schools. This new, five term CSC initiative has been awarded a significant amount of 
funding but delivery has been disrupted by Covid 19 but this will resume in Autumn 2020. However, it 
remains that the majority of schools inspected over the last three years have been awarded an 
adequate judgement for inspection area 3 with recommendations to improve standards of teaching 
and learning in half of the schools inspected.   

 Attainment and progress data is used effectively to challenge and support schools. A wide range of 
further information from LA service areas and the CSC is used successfully to determine the capacity for 
improvement in schools and provide appropriately differentiated support for individual schools 
dependent upon their area of need.  

 The requirement for schools to submit targets to the WG and LA for accountability purposes has been 
revoked by the Welsh Government. However, internal school level and pupil level targets continue to 
be challenged in each school as part of the role of the Improvement Partners.  Pre Covid 19, LA officers 
are kept up to date with the changes to target setting and interim performance measures at KS4 
through updates via the consortium.  Three out of the four secondary schools started the academic 
year 2019-20 with outcomes in nearly all of the KS4 interim performance measures being below 
modelled expectations. In July 2020 Welsh Government stated that KS4 qualifications data will not be 
used to report on attainment outcomes at a school, LA or local consortium level and must not be used 
to hold schools to account for their learners’ outcomes. All schools will continue to undertake self-
evaluation to support continuous improvement based on their internal data tracking and information 
systems.  

 Termly ‘Team around the School’ meetings  with Improvement Partners and LA officers to discuss 
various issues for each school in relation to school improvement, performance data, health and safety, 
buildings and finance issues; providing the LA with opportunity to assess the capability of a school’s 
leadership team in relation to driving through agreed future improvements.  Strong progress has been 
made in ensuring that all officers understand the need to address follow-up actions from meetings in 
order to drive improvements and collaboration between LA and CSC officers in order to best support 
the schools they serve will be further strengthened in the new academic year e.g ALN Transformation. 

 The LA in partnership with the regional consortium provide a comprehensive Professional Learning 
offer for all school-based colleagues at all levels and at all stages in their career.   
 

Page 47



Page 16 of 31 
 

A few schools across the LA are designated CSC ‘Hub’ schools that deliver professional learning 
programmes to other schools across the consortium. However, encouraging more schools to deliver 
professional learning programmes is an area for development.  Leadership across the authority is 
supported by access to national and regional programmes such as NPQH, Aspiring Headteachers, 
National Experienced Headteacher Programme and Improving Leadership Skills of Deputy Heads. 
Access to such programmes over time has contributed to the judgements on leadership being at least 
good in many schools in Estyn inspections over the last three years. Bespoke support for leadership is 
brokered when needed through coaching and mentoring via CSC and shortages in key personnel in 
some schools has been addressed by engaging the expertise of highly experienced and extremely 
effective colleagues from across the LA.  This is impacting positively on improving the quality of 
leadership and building capacity to affect change. Formal federation of schools in the borough in recent 
years has also secured improvements in leadership e.g. St Mary’s and St Illtyd’s and the Taff Bargoed 
Learning Alliance.   However, improving the effectiveness of middle leaders in some schools and the 
impact they have on improving outcomes and standards of teaching and learning remains an area for 
further development.  

 Schools are encouraged to share best practice through informal sessions via the primary and secondary 
Headteacher forums.  These forums have been strengthened during the Covid 19 pandemic as has 
cluster working.  

 Schools across the authority continue to be well supported to meet the needs of national reform via 
the regional consortium.  A comprehensive programme of professional learning for Curriculum for 
Wales which has been broadly differentiated so that practitioners at different points in their career 
receive relevant knowledge and skills to realise the curriculum.  Nearly all schools attended CSC 
Curriculum for Wales senior leader briefings in early spring term of 2020 which informed school leaders 
about the National Mission and key legislation along with the expectations of schools by Welsh 
Government, Estyn and the consortium and how schools are going to meet such expectations.  This 
information has also been shared with LA officers and governors.  Merthyr schools are actively involved 
in CSC School Improvement Groups (SIG) which are made up of schools from across the region and 
focus various aspects of effective pedagogy and curriculum reform. Most evaluations from 
headteachers of the schools involved in SIGs are very positive and most report that involvement in this 
cross regional approach has impacted positively on standards of teaching and learning. However, a 
minority of schools do not participate in the SIG approach and encouraging these schools to become 
involved is an area for development.  Most schools are involved in cluster working.  Some clusters are 
involved in initiatives to improve higher order reading skills and the Oracy 21 project.  Whilst joint 
working is proving effective in some clusters, there remains too much variation in the way that clusters 
of schools work together to support the development of literacy, numeracy and DCF skills and this is an 
area for development.  The consortium’s ALN Transformational Lead supports LA officers, schools and 
Improvement Partners very well in ensuring that the information disseminated to schools and the LA is 
of a very high quality.  Information collected by Improvement Partners indicates that many schools are 
making strong or better progress in preparing the strategic role of ALNCOs to meet the demands of the 
ALN Bill.  This information allows LA and CSC officers to have a good understanding of how best to 
support their schools through collaborative working.  Self-evaluation and improvement planning in all 
schools continues to be linked explicitly to the Challenge Framework via the CSC.   

 The LA’s Partnership Agreement has been agreed by all stakeholders, it is effective in supporting, 
monitoring and challenging all schools. 

 The LA continues to make effective use of statutory powers to challenge the leadership and 
management in those schools whose performance is causing concern.  Half-termly Risk Management 
Conferences are undertaken with the Head of Legal Services, Human Resources, Senior Improvement 
Partner, the Education Portfolio Lead and Chief Education Officer.  At these meetings, schools with 
identified risks are discussed and further support is planned and reviewed; the attendance at these 
half-termly meetings has been inconsistent and thus the challenge has not always been provided in a 

Page 48



Page 17 of 31 
 

timely manner.   

 Timely use of informal warning notices continues to be used across the authority and the LA continues 
to use its statutory powers effectively to challenge underperformance.  To date in 2019-20 there have 
been two informal warning notices issued to secondary schools across the borough. 

 To date in 2019-20, one primary school has received an Estyn inspection. This school was an amber 
school and received a pleasing inspection outcome, receiving a judgement of ‘good’ for leadership and 
management.  One other amber primary school was successfully removed from Estyn review in early 
March 2020.  Another primary school was due to be inspected at the end of March, but this was 
suspended due to Covid 19.  

 The Authority works with its school improvement partner, CSC in delivering governor training including 
development support for school governors specifically around ensuring that governors understand the 
crucial contribution they make to leadership in schools.  CSC and LA officers have delivered bespoke 
training sessions to schools which need support.  Evaluations indicate that these sessions have been 
well received and have improved governors understanding of the where schools are at on their 
improvement journeys and the collective role of governors in monitoring the school’s strategic 
improvement priorities so that they have first-hand evidence of standards.  Many governing bodies 
continue to improve their skills in holding school leaders to account for their performance through an 
increased understanding of a range of performance data.  In these schools, governors are continuing to 
use data well to ensure more rigorous performance management arrangements for Headteachers.  
However, this remains inconsistent across all schools.  

 
 

2.4.2: Support for Vulnerable Learners   
 

 The current provision for the support for vulnerable learners is adequate and needs improvement 
because although there are strengths within the support provided for vulnerable learners which 
outweigh the weaknesses, there remain important aspects that require further improvement.  

 Strategies to ensure the LA tracks the attainment of vulnerable pupils appropriately and provision for 
pupils with additional needs is a priority for development.  

 A range of universal services work well together across the LA to provide seamless, targeted and timely 
support for schools, pupils and parents for example, a School’s Counselling service is provided with The 
Exchange to support pupils and families who are considered to be vulnerable. Since April 2018, the 
Schools’ Counselling service is a jointly commissioned service with Families First community 
counselling. (The service was previously provided by Eye to Eye.)  The new model works toward the 
integrated service approach promoted by Cwm Taf Morgannwg Health board.  YP Core Points scoring 
data has improved by 2.4 points since 2016 and 1.2 points since the new contract in April 2018.  
YPCORE average scores for 2019-20 were 8.3.  The service has also seen a 46.2% increase in referrals 
when compared with the previous three-year period which has led to increased waiting times for the 
service.  The demand for the service has been recognised and WG funding has been secured to 
enhance the service and tackle waiting lists.  During 2018-19, 371 children and young people received 
support from the Statutory Schools’ Counselling Service (compared with 220 children and young people 
during 2016-17). 93% of attendees did not require onward referral as their needs were met via 
counselling. 289 pupils accessed Counselling in the financial year 2019-20.  35 referrals have been 
received to date during the Summer term 2020, with 301 sessions attended. Some pupils have opted to 
wait for face to face sessions rather than access online sessions offered during lockdown. 

 Joint collaboration has successfully continued with the Health Services and Rhondda Cynon Taff, which 
has further supported targeted enhanced speech and language therapy for pupils, with 3 pupils 
receiving an enhanced service for specific language impairment and a further 30 for ASD in schools 
during 2018-19. 

  

Page 49



Page 18 of 31 
 

 The authority has a programme for the evaluation of all ALN services provided for, or commissioned by, 
the authority.  This has led to continued improvements in the services and increased commissioning of 
services through another local authority in order to meet needs: currently Educational Psychology 
Service and Visual Impairment, with the addition of the Hearing Impairment Service planned from 
September 2020.  

 Targeted support for vulnerable learners particularly those identified as having English as an additional 
language and Gypsy Travellers has resulted in improved levels of engagement, behaviour and 
achievement.  As a result, attendance has improved for these groups of learners and the length of 
engagement in secondary education has continued, attendance rates for 93.8% of pupils exceeded the 
200 minimum sessions. The majority of Gypsy traveller pupils had over 90% attendance for the 
academic year.  

 The Youth Support Services continue to be effective in ensuring children and young people’s wellbeing 
remains a priority in the work that is undertaken.  All pupils including vulnerable learners continue to 
have access to enrichment type activities through the forms of music, sporting events, off site visits and 
art workshops, these aim to further improve self-confidence and self-esteem.  There continues to be 
worthwhile provision of services around safeguarding, sports, the arts and healthy eating ensuring 
learners access a broad and balanced curriculum. 

 The LA continues to use a range of data to identify effectively; the needs and progress of vulnerable 
learners over time, including children looked after.  The LA provides purposeful support and challenge 
for schools through the work of the Improvement Partners who draw on a range of data to address 
underperformance of groups of vulnerable learners.  Early identification, evaluation and intervention of 
pupils with mild to moderate additional learning needs continues to be undertaken via detailed 
graduated responses within schools. 

 Very good pupil-focused support is provided to schools and families for the early identification, 
evaluation and intervention for vulnerable learners.  Support for families has also been provided 
through the Family Liaison Officers (FLOs), MIA, Intensive Support for Families and WEFO funded 
projects since 2011.  All policies and protocols continue to be reviewed on an annual basis ensuring 
that provision meets the needs of schools and various groups of vulnerable learners.  The development 
of the role of the FLO has been a key focus area.  Training has been delivered to enable the FLOs to 
work more effectively with parents and to ascertain the underlying reason for poor attendance. 

 ALN Lead officers in collaboration with all schools reviewed the ALN Enhanced Support Funding process 
during 2018.  The outcome of the review was that the renamed ‘ALN Additional Support Funding’ was 
devolved to each school’s budget from 2019.  Schools now have an annual level of funding based on 
the level of ALN of pupils within each individual school.  The overly bureaucratic approach has been 
replaced with a more streamlined system which better meets the needs of learners with ALN.  Schools 
have welcomed their increased autonomy and the capacity to develop a highly trained, skilled and 
effective LSA workforce.  As a result, the LA is better placed to meet the needs of pupils with ALN.  

 The COVID pandemic and the Stay at Home rules have required a number of adjustments to services 
that support vulnerable families.  Colleagues across the LA have been responsive and flexible to these 
changes.  There has been particular concern about the impact of these changes for children at risk and 
their families, as schools close and services reduce their visiting and intervention in the community in 
order to protect the public and staff.  Since the closure of our schools the priority has been to 
significantly reduce social contact to reduce the transmission of Covid 19, while continuing to provide 
support for vulnerable learners.  In the majority of cases, children have been cared for by their families 
in the home, and schools have been providing support remotely, working with other agencies where 
necessary. 

 A centralised Admissions process for the children of Keyworkers and for those deemed as vulnerable 
has been established with clear criteria, in order to allocate a place to one of the Hubs in the LA.   

  

Page 50



Page 19 of 31 
 

 As we have been working to different arrangements it has been important that colleagues from 
different agencies and settings work together, now more so than ever, in order to enable the safety 
and wellbeing of the most vulnerable children.  As such a Vulnerable Learners Panel has also been 
established.  This is multi-agency group made up of colleagues from EWS, EPS, ALN, Special Tuition, 
Families First, Youth Support Services, EAL/GT Team, YOS, EHE, CLA.  The LA has identified the learners 
deemed as the most vulnerable.  A Keyworker has been allocated to Keep in Touch with these learners. 
A Triage Panel meets weekly to discuss any concerns that have been received via the EWS mailbox.  
School and agencies have been asked to report by exception to the mailbox below.  This return need 
only include feeding back on things over and above what teams would not deal with as part of their 
usual daily business. Concerns are recorded, and team members are identified to undertake the next 
steps.  KIT guidance and questions to use when contacting the family have been produced to support 
colleagues as part of this process.  Colleagues in EWS have been instrumental in making home visits.  
All concerns that cannot be dealt with via this process are escalated to the Bronze Command 
Safeguarding Panel.  This process has enabled a robust system for ensuring pupil welfare.  

 Sanitary products have been made available to young females in the community and those attending 
the hubs who might be at risk of suffering from period poverty.   

 The Police continue to provide the LA with details of those learners who have been victims of, or 
witnesses to, incidents of domestic abuse via Operation Encompass.  Colleagues in EWS are able to 
inform the school in order to make them aware of the situation.  This has enabled improved emotional 
intelligence.  

 The LA continues to promote positive attitudes towards race equality and strategies to combat racism; 
in schools, diversity is celebrated, and healthy debate is encouraged. As a result of key activities 
undertaken, reported incidents of bullying in relation to racism remains low. The key activities that are 
in place to improve wellbeing in general and bullying include activities at a whole school level which 
includes the PSE curriculum; Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL), Circle Time, Philosophy 4 
Children along with Show Racism the Red Card events.  At an individual targeted level activities include 
Emotional Literacy Support Assistants delivering counselling, Restorative Justice, Mindfulness and 
Student Assistant Programme. At a specialist level activities include support from the Behaviour Team, 
Educational Psychologists, Children Looked After support, Play Therapy, along with the use of Key 
Workers and/or Learning Coaches. 

 With the backing of WG funding training and workshops were to have been delivered to schools 
identified as needing this type of support. These were to focus on conflict resolution, critical thinking, 
and to develop empathy. The aim of this is to reduce hate crime. This is to be progressed at the start of 
the Autumn term 2020. The grant needs to be spent by the end of March 2021. SRtRC is to deliver the 
workshops in our schools. Sapere is to deliver the staff training.  

 The LA Outreach Service has delivered Positive Behaviour Support Training to all schools in Merthyr, 
along with Merthyr College and the EOTAS provision.   The outreach service with an outside provider 
(Helen Sanderson Associates (HSA)) has delivered Person Centred Practice training to 26 out of 29 
schools within the authority, in order to ensure a consistent approach to Person Centred Planning (PCP) 
across the authority; as a result of the training, all Annual Reviews are conducted using a PCP approach 
ensuring reviews are effective and transitional planning is timely and supported.  This approach has 
also been rolled out to Early Years settings and Merthyr College, in order to ensure a consistent 
approach across the LA. All Early Years’ settings have been offered PCP training and nearly all settings 
(approx. 90%) attended. One Page Profiles are being piloted on entry to settings, with a view to have 
One Page Profiles included with all transition documents by Summer 2019.  

 Nineteen schools are now part of the local authority EWS SLA, as from September 2019 which includes 
Bishop Hedley High School and the Ty Dysgu Homfray and Ty Dysgu Dowlais.  Self -evaluation audit 
reports were completed by all schools in the Autumn term and meetings were held with the schools 
and challenge advisors to discuss the attendance strategies, identify barriers for improvement and 
confirm next steps to secure further attendance improvement.   

Page 51



Page 20 of 31 
 

 Attendance has decreased slightly in 2018/19 by 0.11% for the primary sector and increased by 0.06% 
for the secondary sector.  A business plan has been produced identifying actions to improve 
performance. This includes schools completing self-evaluation audit reports, and data analysis 
completed with good practice initiatives sent to schools. Family Liaison Officer training held in the 
Autumn and Spring term for schools, EWS and other agencies, and schools to create their own parental 
engagement policy by the end of the summer term. A corporate approach to an Attendance Awareness 
Raising Campaign which includes ‘attendance weeks’ focusing on attendance being high profile in 
schools. Truancy patrols being carried out termly in conjunction with the police. The provision of 
monthly authority and school level data on attendance, which has facilitated in improved targeting of 
resources will continue e.g. reduction of persistent absentees. Strategies also include increased 
involvement of the Governor with responsibility for attendance and the School Council in attendance 
matters; schools routinely challenging and requesting medical evidence for sickness absences; earlier 
engagement with the FPN process; continued opportunities for rewarding pupils with good attendance. 

 However, despite the engagement of all schools in the strategies to improve attendance, as a local 
authority we are still ranked 22 out of 22 in Wales for primary and secondary attendance.  

 As of the Spring Term 2020 schools closed on the 20th March due to an outbreak of COVID-19. 
Processes have been put in place to support learners and schools are providing education support 
remotely as well as keeping in touch with their most vulnerable pupils on a weekly basis. The LA are 
working to different arrangements and the EWS has a list of vulnerable pupils collated from agencies 
and schools. Pupils of concern are discussed weekly via a triage panel. There is representation on the 
weekly Vulnerable Learners Panel from the EWS. Team members are identified to confirm next steps. 
This ensures close working relations with several agencies to enable the identification of an 
appropriate and proportionate response. Where there remain issues with regards to confirming a 
child’s welfare these cases have been escalated to the Police for them to follow up. During these 
unprecedented times, the role of the EWS has been able to evolve into that of addressing wellbeing 
rather than attendance. In conjunction with schools the EWS will be able to offer support to alleviate 
any anxiety families may have in sending their children back to school. We recognise that the 
curriculum has been based in the community for a long period of time. The EWS  will be able to listen 
to what has happened in this time in order to understand the needs of our families and engage them in 
the transitioning of learning back into school.The team will continue to be able to support schools with 
keeping in touch with their pupils via phone calls, texts and/or home visits. The purpose of this is, is to 
check the welfare of the child and to signpost the family to the appropriate agency for support where 
needed. 

 The LA has continued to work closely with all schools, but in particular the secondary sector, to reduce 
the number of exclusions and to avoid lengthy or permanent exclusions. Excluded pupils are swiftly 
provided with alternative high-quality education through robust processes for managed moves, 
provision in a specialist setting or special tuition. Managed moves have been fully embraced by three of 
the four secondary schools and a number of successful transfers between the schools have ensured 
pupils are achieving success in their new school.  In conjunction with this, at key stage 4 alternative 
curriculum routes continue to be explored for pupils displaying significant disaffection or very 
challenging behaviour, such as those offered at the college. 

 Under the new operation of a PRU the EOTAS Management Board has been reconfigured and now 
operates with representatives from the secondary sector, Social Services, the Police, the Youth 
Offending Team, LA officers, staff from the provision and a parent representative.  It is the role of the 
Management Board to ensure that a range of stakeholders contribute towards shaping the education 
and experiences of the learners within the provision. However, due to the nature of the provision, 
often learners are not able to access the full academic curriculum so bespoke education packages are 
arranged.  

  

Page 52



Page 21 of 31 
 

 A more appropriate curriculum has been developed with external providers contributing to the 
timetable on a regular basis; bespoke timetables are implemented for pupils where necessary in order 
to reflect their individual strengths and to increase motivation. There has been an increase in the total 
number of exclusions issued from 18 in 2017/18 to 82 in 2018.19.  The reason for this has been two-
fold; a different recording system was used previously and because under the leadership of the new 
Headteacher a more robust Behaviour Policy has been followed. This has taken time to embed. At the 
end of March 2020, the number of exclusions was 58; this had reduced from 63 in March 2019.  

 Pen Y Dre High School received funding as part of a pilot at the start of the academic year of 2016/17 to 
support behaviour management and reduce exclusions. This money was used to set up Y Bont, which 
was a class of small numbers for years 7 and 8 to provide specific interventions to address underlying 
behavioural needs. The alternative provision in Pen Y Dre High School has resulted in a reduction of 
exclusions and has also resulted in no Year 7 pupil requiring education provision in the EOTAS setting. 
The pilot will cease at the end of academic year 2019/20. As of September 2020, funding will be given 
to the three secondary schools that are part of the Managed Move Protocol (Pen Y Dre, Cyfarthfa and 
Afon Taf High Schools) with the aim of reducing exclusions and reducing the number of Managed 
Moves. This money is to be used for staffing so that interventions can be delivered as part of a 
graduated response to support behaviour. It is hoped that this money will give schools an additional 
pathway of support for the pupils in their school to address behaviour in house as part of a therapeutic 
programme and therefore reducing the need to look for alternative routes and/or exclude.  

 Effective and timely arrangements continue to be in place for transition back into school for pupils who 
have been excluded, Children Looked After, refugee children and those who were previously electively 
home educated. The LA continues to hold weekly Clearing Panels attended by a range of professional 
representatives, which provides a robust system for addressing complex cases, including moves into 
the local authority and emergency cases/changes in circumstances. These regular panel meetings 
ensure that individual cases are dealt with promptly, with input and advice from a range of relevant 
education professionals. However, pupils that moved into MTCBC from another authority do not 
always have timely plans in place to accommodate their transition into school and were therefore 
referred for Special Tuition. 

 Special tuition is available to provide short-term education for pupils unable, by reason of their 
medical, psychiatric, psychological or behavioural issues, to attend school.  Continuity of education 
achieved by regular contact and flow of information between the service and the pupil’s school is of 
paramount importance. Special tuition does not aim to provide a permanent alternative to full time 
schooling, but rather to reduce difficulties when medical or other reasons result in long term absence 
from school and essentially to facilitate the return of the pupil to full time education. Special tuition 
exists to meet the LA’s (LA) statutory responsibility towards pupils who are unable to attend school and 
seek to prevent such pupils falling behind with their education.   

 Special Tuition Panel has continued to meet weekly during lockdown. There has been strong 
partnership working with EOTAS providers, particularly with regard to Special Tuition to deliver remote 
learning. Learners were given workpacks at the start of the lockdown phase. Learners have been 
contacted daily where possible to ascertain level of need in terms of any additional work, with some 
learners returning work by email, post and/or drop off to a central location.  An Acceptal Users Policy 
(AUP) has been developed for learners to learn remotely via Teams as a group. This policy covers the 
safeguarding protocols and operational requirements for both staff and parents, with learning being 
provided for pupils but delivered outside of the school setting. 

 The AUP has been developed for group teaching for some of our EAL and GT pupils as well as for Music 
tuition and for the delivery of Special Tuition.  

 The EAL/GT Team has identified digitally excluded families and has provided them with paper-based 
resource packs. The EAL/GT Team has purchased a range of books to support both education and 
wellbeing. While schools have delivered paper- based resources to pupils as well as loaning chrome 
books to those who need them most. 

Page 53



Page 22 of 31 
 

 The colleagues from Children’s Services and the CLA Education Coordinator sit on the weekly ALN 
Clearing panel and Special Tuition panel ensuring that crucial decisions and support in relation to CLA 
pupils are not deferred/delayed.  Statement reviews have started to be held virtually and the LACES 
Team form part of these meetings for all CLA pupils.   

 Support packs have been produced by a variety of agencies (including EPS, CSC, voluntary sector and 
WG) on numerous subjects (for example bereavement, anxiety, online learning). These have been 
shared with foster carers via the Foster Carers Facebook Page and Whatsapp group, and with all staff 
within Children’s Services.  The LACES team, supported by Twynyroden Community Centre and 
Stephens and George Charitable Trust have devised and distributed learning resource packs for all of 
our CLA pupils to support engagement and learning and assist placement stability.   

 There is an allocated Looked after Children Education Service (LACES) officer allocated to each CLA 
pupil – their role is to liasie closely with schools, as well as KIT with CLA pupils and carers on a regular 
basis, escalating any concerns to the Team Manager (CLA Education Coordinator).  Referrals are 
forwarded to the weekly LA Vulnerable Learners panel if further escalation is required – the CLA 
Education Coordinator forms part of this panel.  Continued dialogue between the CLA Education 
Coordinator and Team Managers for CLA and Family Support ensure that timely referrals are made for 
CLA pupils where there is need.   

 There continues to be agreed processes and procedures in place for those pupils who are electively 
home educated. The Advisory Teacher with this area of responsibility maintains a register of pupils 
electively educated at home in order to monitor and track pupil progress, LA officers liaise regularly to 
ensure accurate information is retained and that appropriate support is provided for these pupils. This 
is now a statutory role and to support this the LA has received funding from WG. This is to be used for 
the funding of the Advisory Teacher’s post and for the creation of a new Support Worker post with the 
aim to improve contacts with learning and activities in the community and ultimately outcomes for the 
individual.    

 The LA continues to conduct statutory assessments in accordance with the SEN Code of Practice and in 
an effective and timely manner.  97% or more of statutory assessments that have been undertaken 
since 2014 have been completed within statutory timescales unless an exception has been granted due 
to ongoing resolutions. 

 95% of statutory assessments completed in 2019/2020 were completed within statutory timescales.  In 
the other 5% of assessments exceptions were granted due to ongoing resolutions.  In the 
Spring/Summer term 2020, only 4 parental statutory assessment request were put on hold, with 
parental permission, due to Covid19 lockdown. 

 All pupils with a Statement of SEN are provided with additional provision to which they are entitled. 
Provision is specific in statements and the annual review process is robust. All Young People contribute 
towards their Statutory Assessment and Annual Reviews, in line with person centred practice. 

 The majority of annual reviews have continued even during the Covid19 lockdown of Spring/Summer 
2020. 

 Following a review of LRBs, the need for specialist provision for pupils with complex SEBD needs in 
schools within the local authority has been addressed. The new provisions are being embedded and 
have, to date, resulted in a 50% reduction of pupils requiring costly out of county provision.  The year 
on year financial savings are clearly evident in the end of year accounts over the past 4 years: 2017/18 - 
£793,832; 2018/19 - £752,360; 2019/20 - £686,955;  2020/21 - £666,000.   

 Work is being undertaken to ensure information is shared with mainstream settings from the health 
services prior to pupils with complex needs starting school. However, for a number of pupils with 
complex additional learning needs this information is not timely.  During 2019-20, the LA has been 
attending multi-agency Team Around the Child meetings hosted by the Neurodevelopmental team to 
help address this.   

 The LA continues to work closely with outside education providers, partnership services and support 
services including Children’s Social Services and Children Looked After Education Support services, to 

Page 54



Page 23 of 31 
 

ensure children are well placed and closely monitored and reviewed.  

 Advice for individual parents and carers with children with additional learning needs continues to be 
good, they are supported well through the process and continue to work in partnership with schools. 
Very good pupil-focused support is provided to schools and families for the early identification, 
evaluation and intervention of pupils with additional learning needs.  Support for families has also been 
provided through the family liaison officers, MIA and WEFO funded projects since 2011. All policies and 
protocols are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that provision meets the needs of schools and 
pupils with additional learning needs. 

 Parent Partnership continues to be embedded across all ALN and Inclusion Teams and has contributed 
to a reduction in SEN Tribunals, which continue to remain low with one tribunal in process.  However, 
cases which are at risk of tribunal are significantly increasing.  This is partly due to the significant 
increase in requests for statutory assessments (a 67% increase between 14/15 and 18/19). The number 
of requests have since reduced dramatically (32 received in 19/20 compared to 91 in 17/18). It is worth 
noting that there has also been a significant increase in the number of requests that did not meet 
criteria (1 in 2015, compared with 30 in 2018-19). The LA continues to work very closely with SNAP 
Cymru to support parents and provide high quality impartial information, advice and guidance to allow 
them to make informed decisions and resolve disputes without recourse to complaint or tribunal.  

 Having reviewed the current practice and arrangements for parent partnership work in mediation and 
conflict resolution the LA has developed a toolkit on Dispute Resolution for schools and information for 
parents. 100% of schools have engaged in Dispute Resolution Training. The Complex Case Manager has 
been able to strengthen working relationships between schools, parents, and SNAP Cymru.  

 There has been a delay to the implementation of the ALNET. The LA is fully engaged with the CSC ALN 
Reform Action Plan and is on track to meet targets for September 2021. The Action Plan is reviewed 
monthly in conjunction with the ALN Transformation Lead and with the other LAs across the region.  

 Support and training have been provided in relation to positive behaviour management for all staff 
deployed within learning resource bases across the authority, which has seen a reduction in the 
number of requests for support from the behaviour support team. Accredited Manual Handling training 
continues to be delivered by LA officers to school staff across the authority, ensuring the safety of 
pupils and staff where pupils have limited mobility and/or personal care needs.  

 The Speech and Language Service Level Agreement held jointly with Rhondda Cynon Taff has continued 
to support pupils with significant speech and language needs in 2019-2020. It currently supports 20 
pupils in the ASD specialist classes across 5 schools, which includes Greenfield Special School. This 
enhanced provision supports 2 pupils with Developmental Language Disorder (DLD) who attend 
mainstream schools. The SALT team also provide a training programme which supports the upskilling of 
teaching and support staff. During 2019-20 there were 13 courses delivered and 1 cancelled due to 
Covid-19 school closures. As a consequence of school closures, 4 courses were delivered by on-line 
streaming during the period of lockdown. Attendance on these pre-streamed courses was excellent 
with 19 schools taking part and at best, 163 attendees. 

 In 2019-20 the Hearing Impairment Service has supported 40 pupils across 15 schools. The LA 
peripatetic staff, 1 Teacher of the Deaf and 1 HI HLTA, work across all provisions including Greenfield 
Special School. There are 14 pupils with significant hearing impairments who are eligible through the 
National Sensory Impairment Partnership (NatSIP) for direct teaching sessions, 6 primary and 8 
secondary schools. Hearing monitoring is provided for 26 pupils with hearing aid equipment checks, on 
a termly or annual basis. Currently the HI service has not had any new referrals for babies or preschool 
pupils and numbers remain consistent throughout the year. There are strong lines of communication 
between Cwm Taf University Health Board’s Audiology department, with regular information updates 
and pupil information exchanges. No schools requested training from the HI Service this academic year. 

  

Page 55



Page 24 of 31 
 

 The VI service provision is part of a Service Level agreement with Rhondda Cynon Taff. Qualified Visual 
Impairment teachers are commissioned to support pupils; however, braille support staff are employed 
by MTCBC and work directly in schools. There have been 2 new Braille LSA appointments during 2019-
20, one supporting a pre-school pupil and 1 secondary school pupil. There are 23 pupils that receive the 
provision, 2 pre-school, 10 primary, 10 secondary pupils and 1 post-16 pupil who attends Greenfield 
Special School. Of those receiving VI support, 5 pupils receive weekly teaching sessions. Included in 
these numbers, there have been 2 new referrals, 1 pre-schooler and 1 secondary pupil. Assessments 
are on-going to identify the level of their needs and support. One secondary school has requested 
specific VI training from the VI team, to support a statement pupil, other than this there have been no 
other training sessions delivered this academic year. 

 During 2019-20 the service for pupils with Physical and/or Medical Needs has supported 19 pupils 
across 11 mainstream schools. Mobility screening is provided for pupils with impaired mobility on an 
annual basis. This helps to inform school application for Additional Support funding. There has been a 
noticeable increase in new referrals for preschool pupils over the last few years (9 new cases in 2019-
20, compared with 0 in 2017-18 and 1 in 2018-19) due to complex needs and improved premature 
baby survival rates. There are strong lines of communication between Cwm Taf University Health 
Board’s Occupational Therapy and Physiotherapy Departments, with regular information updates and 
pupil information exchanges. Manual Handling training and support for Toilet training are regularly 
delivered to support schools. In addition, the service is involved with school adaptations to improve 
accessibility for pupils (3 schools targeted in 2018-19 and a further 2 schools in 2019-20); and ensuring 
specialist equipment is in place to be meet pupil needs. 

 Termly Forums and moderation sessions with the LRB teachers have taken place jointly hosted by 
Greenfield School Outreach and the LA. All newly appointed ALNCOs participated in the induction 
training programme ensuring a consistent approach to the role across the authority. ALNCo Forums are 
held on a half termly basis and provide an effective forum for professional development and 
transformational ALN Reform. They are well attended by all schools, the EPs service, Early Years’ 
leaders, Merthyr College ALNCos and other professionals. 

 
 

2.4.3: Other Education Support Services   
 

 The current position for Other Education Support Services is adequate and needs improvement; 
although strengths outweigh weaknesses, some important aspects that require further improvement 
remain. 

 There is good provision of services around, PSE, sport, the arts, environmental issues and healthy 
lifestyles. 

 Engagement with the Eco Schools Awards remains high. 19 out of 26 schools have active Green flag 
status. Ten of which have platinum status. There are an additional three schools that are non-green 
schools but have active applications. These awards nurture positive attitudes to the environment and 
develop and active global citizenship.  

 All pupils, including vulnerable groups of pupils, have access to enrichment type activities e.g. Music, 
sporting events, off site visits and Art Workshops. This improves self-confidence and self-esteem.  

 Pre Covid- 19, the Team of 13 Peripatetic Music tutors were teaching over 1,700 pupils weekly in 25/29 
of school. A weekly extra-curricular music centre for a variety of ensembles was in place as were 
workshops available for all LA pupils.  Competitions and concerts to showcase the hard work of the 
young musicians were a regular event. Engagement with the music service has increased with over 106 
hours being bought in by schools at the end of the Autumn term. Since the start of lockdown the team 
of Music Service tutors have produced materials for all pupils to work on whilst schools have been 
closed via ‘Charanga’ in both the Hubs and at home allowing access to individually tailored resources, 
exercises, videos and music to keep themselves moving forward musically through the summer term as 

Page 56



Page 25 of 31 
 

music teachers added fun activities as well as assignments and monitored progress.  
 

 Targeted support for groups of learners has resulted in improved levels of engagement, behaviour and 
achievement, specifically among pupils for whom English is in additional language and for Gypsy 
Travellers. As a result, attendance for Gypsy Travellers has improved and engagement in education has 
continued into secondary school for longer. The close keeping in touch processes and home visits 
undertaken during lockdown has resulted in stronger relationships with some of these families.  

 As a result of key activities in school, reported incidents of bullying for racism remain low. With the 
backing of WG funding training and workshops were to have been delivered to schools identified as 
needing this type of support. These were to focus on conflict resolution, critical thinking, and to 
develop empathy. The aim of this is to reduce hate crime. This is to be progressed at the start of the 
Autumn term 2020. The grant needs to be spent by the end of March 2021. SRtRC is to deliver the 
workshops in our schools. Sapere is to deliver the staff training.  

 Working with colleagues in the LA and Barnados to identify and highlight the issues faced by young 
carers in schools has led to the identification of over 100 Young Carers with the securing of support and 
Champions for this cohort. As a result, pupils and their families are able to access additional support. 

 The data provides a detailed understanding of attendance trends and is analysed by variables including 
gender, school year and groups of leaners (eFSM, CLA, gypsy traveller etc).  The monthly analysis 
provided has facilitated in improved targeting of resources. 

 The Youth Service has been effective in reducing the NEETS population.  Despite a rise to 2.05% in 2019 
(11 young people), the overall trend has shown an improvement since 2012 when it was 6.2% (44 
young people).  There were no young people with an ‘unknown’ destination in 2019.  Effective features 
include good partnership working with schools, the College Merthyr Tydfil and Careers Wales; use of 
the Early Intervention Toolkit, which starts in year 7, and a comprehensive tracking system which is 
used well to target support. 

 Attendance rates within flying start are high and in the top quartile compared to the rest of Wales 

 Some intervention programmes are now benchmarking impact on attendance utilising Capita 1 system.  
For example, 52.5% of Year 11 pupils engaged with the Inspire to Achieve (I2A) project improved their 
attendance.  Despite key activities, attendance overall has not improved. The key activities are monthly 
borough and school level data on attendance shared with all schools including governors and the 
implementation of a wide range of effective strategies in nearly all schools  

 Effective guidance, support and training for behaviour management in schools is provided through a 
comprehensive training programme on Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) led by the Outreach Service. 
The implementation of Person-Centred Practices and PBS has resulted in a greater understanding of 
pupil needs and has paved the way for the conversion from statements to IDPs.  

 The authority has remodelled the behaviour support team to work in partnership with the outreach 
service from Greenfield Special School and with the Educational Psychology service so that advice to 
schools is supportive and timely. During lockdown, these teams have been providing an online 
telephone consultations for parents who have been struggling with the behaviour at home.  

 As a result of key activities, permanent exclusions are rare, and time lost to fixed term exclusions has 
reduced significantly in the secondary and primary sector. The key activities are, monthly borough and 
school level data on exclusions is shared with all schools including governors, as well as Improvement 
Partners and appropriate LA staff.  

 Excluded pupils are provided swiftly with alternative high-quality education through robust processes 
for managed moves, provision in a specialist setting and special tuition.  

 The alternative provision in Pen Y Dre has reduced exclusions by more than half. 

 In the EOTAS setting, the number of days lost due to an exclusion and the number of exclusions have 
reduced.  The provision is supported well by the youth offending team who sit on the management 
board. During the academic year of 2018/19 the number of incidents that have resulted in an exclusion 
has risen but this is partly attributable to the Head of Centre having adopted a more consistent and 

Page 57



Page 26 of 31 
 

robust Behaviour Policy, as well as the result of an extremely challenging pupil in the provision. 

 Engagement with youth services and accreditation rates remain above Welsh averages. 

 The regular review of evaluation of youth services ensures there is a good range of opportunities for 
young people to access programmes which offer accreditation or recognition for learning and 
participation, and personal support, advice and guidance. 

 Restructuring of Families First services has increased access to single intervention services for young 
people resulting in: 

o increased access to Families First resilience group programmes in high schools as part of 
targeted youth support 

o a joint statutory and Families First primary and secondary school counselling service for pupils 
and their families in order to increase access to therapeutic services 

o the development of an emotional health and wellbeing pathway across Families First 
agencies  to be more effective in meeting the needs of young people’s health and wellbeing. 

 
Planning of School Places and School Organisation 

 

 The processes for managing school organisation and planning of school places is firmly established in 
the authority.  

 Surplus Places in the Primary Sector for EM schools are 8.1% (2019) which compares to 9.4% in 2018. 
The LA performance in 2018 was better than the Welsh Average (WA) 12.6% and Ranked 5/22. 

 One Primary school (4.5%) has significant surplus places which is the same as in 2018 and is better than 
the WA of 15.8% (2018), Ranked 2/22.    

 This school (Bedlinog Primary) is a small rural school and work is planned to relocate an early year pre-
school setting within the school during 20/21 as part of the WG Early Years Capital Grant.  

 One school is oversubscribed (2019), compared to none in 2018 when the LA was one of only 4 local 
authorities in this position. This school (Pant Primary) has scheduled work in Summer 2020 to provide 
an additional classroom through internal reconfiguration. 

 There are also four schools within 2% of capacity, three of which are being addressed either through 
Band B or the Reducing Infant Class Sizes Grant. The fourth school is a provisional candidate for Band C.    

 Surplus places for WM Primary schools are 3.1% (2019). This compares to 7% in 2018 when the LA was 
ranked 1st in Wales against a WA of 16.2%, and with no schools oversubscribed.  

 The LA has built a standalone classroom extension in one WM school which will be ready for occupancy 
in September 2020 and is also currently building a standalone classroom extension in an EM school 
which will be ready for occupancy in January 2021.  These classroom extensions have been delivered 
from a combination of WG Capital Grant, S106 monies and the Capital Programme and will increase the 
capacity of the schools to support future growth beyond the term of the grant period. 

 Surplus places in the secondary sector are 16.0% (2019) which compares to 18.4% in 2018. The LA 
performance in 2018 was better than the WA 19.7% and Ranked 12/22. 

 No schools are oversubscribed but one secondary is within 5% of capacity. There are 13 LAs in Wales 
who have no secondary schools that are oversubscribed (2018).  

 One secondary school has significant surplus places (2019) which is the same as in 2018 and represents 
25% of secondary schools compared to WA of 36.2% and Ranked Joint 6th with another 5 LAs across 
Wales (2018). 

 The school with significant surplus places is being addressed in the 21st Century Schools Programme 
Band B (Bishop Hedley).   

 Pupil projection information in the local authority is produced annually for the Primary sector covering 
2019-2024 and for the Secondary sector covering 2019-2029.  These projections are accurate, typically 
within 1% of actual pupil data, and are submitted annually to Welsh Government as part of the surplus 
places and capacity return.  

  

Page 58



Page 27 of 31 
 

 Information from the Local Development Plan (2016-2031) and discussions with the Planning 
Department have helped to improve the robustness of pupil number forecasting for the purpose of 
planning school places and developing the 21st Century Schools Band B SOP and business cases. 

 Following a period of statutory consultation the Council approved (Sep 2019) the merger of three VA 
Primary schools and one VA Secondary school to form a single through 3-16 school with effect from 12 
months prior to the completion of a new build as part of the Band B Programme. 

 In order to ensure the LA continues to meet demand for WM places over the short to medium term 
classroom provision has been reconfigured within the two Welsh Medium Primary schools to increase 
capacity in both schools and this capacity is projected to be sufficient to meet demand for Welsh 
medium places until 2024.   

 In addition to this, Ysgol Santes Tudful will have an additional standalone classroom built from WG 
grant monies with occupancy commencing September 2020, and Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug are having an 
internal reconfiguration of three classrooms in 2022/23.  

 The LA has also secured funding to undertake some capital works in 2024/25 to repurpose a current 
EM school as its third WM Primary school. This is to help encourage and meet future demand for WM 
places over the medium to long term. 

 The LA does not currently have its own WM secondary school and both WM primary schools are feeder 
schools for Ysgol Rhydywaun in RCT.  Merthyr pupils represent 44% of the school’s cohort in 2018, up 
from 39% in 2014.  The LA shares information on Welsh Medium places with RCTCBC. 

 The LA’s Special School (Greenfield) has seen a 15% growth in pupil numbers since 2012 and 
consequently are using two demountable classrooms and the neighbouring Integrated Children’s 
Centre building. These numbers have begun to gradually increase again after stabilising over the last 
two to three academic years.    

 The entry/exit and banding criteria for pupils requiring special school provision were reviewed and 
updated (in 2018/19) in order to provide clarity and consistency with regards to the appropriate school 
placement for children with SEN.  

 The LA has also reviewed the sufficiency of specialist places in mainstream schools and is continuing to 
pilot revised arrangements over the Academic Year 2020/21.  Significant reallocation of resources has 
been required to enable this pilot to be resourced each academic year over this period since 
September 2018.  

 A formal federation has been agreed between Bedlinog Primary and Trelewis Primary schools (April 20) 
following a successful informal arrangement that included an Executive Headteacher working across 
both schools since November 2018.  

 
School Buildings, Capital and R&M 
 

 The LA has updated condition surveys for 2/3 of the school stock since 2016 as part of a rolling 
programme to update the condition surveys of all buildings across the whole estate.  

 However, the programme has not progressed since 2018/19 and as a result 10 school surveys remain 
out of date with the most recent surveys on these properties having been undertaken between 2008 
and 2011. 

 Based on current information for schools surveyed since 2016 the LA has 9 out of 19 school buildings 
(47%) in conditions A and B (Good/Satisfactory), the remaining schools are all condition C (Poor).  

 Out of the 10 schools graded C, 5 are included in Band A and Band B C21 Schools Programmes, 1 has 

been identified as a candidate Band C project, and 3 of the other 4 have either had or have planned 

significant capital investment from other sources addressing some significant backlog maintenance 

issues.   

 9 out of 10 of the schools with an out of date survey were graded condition A/B but updated surveys 
are required to inform future strategic planning of school capital projects.  The other school has been 

Page 59



Page 28 of 31 
 

identified as a candidate Band C project. 

 Discussions have commenced with Property Services to undertake holistic condition surveys of schools 
to include Condition and Suitability ratings and to prioritise those schools with out of date surveys and 
aligned to strategic priority projects.  

 95% of schools surveyed since 2016 have facilities in suitability category A or B (Good/Satisfactory). The 
other school is graded as C (Poor) and is currently under phase 2 construction of a new build as part of 
Band A.  

 The Afon Taf Band A refurbishment project was successfully completed August 2017.   

 Ysgol Y Graig Band A New Build project, which will co-locate the current early years pre-school and 
maintained nursery provision on the same site as the main school, is scheduled to be completed May 
2021. 

 The condition, suitability and sufficiency of schools informs the LA’s priorities for capital investment as 
detailed in our 21st Century Schools Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) for Band B of the 21st Century 
Schools Programme which has also been approved by WG. The need to renew the Condition Survey 
programme has been identified as a priority within the Recovery, Transformation, and Improvement 
Plan.  

 The LA has approved match funding over its Medium-Term Financial Plan to finance the £56.6 M Band 
B programme and has identified efficiency savings from related school organisation proposals to part 
finance the investment.  

 The LA’s priorities for investment in the Capital Programme are also aligned to the condition, suitability 
and sufficiency of schools and relevant planning of school places strategies as detailed within the 
authority’s Strategic Outline Programme (SOP). 

 The LA’s first Band B Project, a major refurbishment of Pen Y Dre secondary school, has had its Outline 
Business Case (OBC) given conditional approval for the preferred option which was originally approved 
as the preferred way forward at the SOC stage. The OBC approval is subject to the completion of the 
final stages of design work, following which procurement processes will begin. 

 The LA remains on track to deliver its Band B programme of projects despite the impact of COVID which 
has resulted in project delays and the need to reprofile the programme.     

 In 2020/21 the LA has £817k of WG Capital Maintenance Grant monies remaining to enable the LA to 
deliver priority capital maintenance projects on its school buildings. This is in addition to the £877k that 
was allocated on projects during 2019/20.  These projects have been agreed between Education, 
Property Services/Estates and Finance and prioritised based on property condition and urgent 
emerging issues. 

 The formula funding allocation for schools includes specific monies for building repairs and 
maintenance and all schools set a budget for this.  Schools are also provided with copies of completed 
condition surveys including details of required remedial works that the school is responsible for in 
order to plan works.    

 The LA manages a mutual fund for non-capital repairs & maintenance on behalf of schools which allows 
schools to pool a proportion of their delegated repairs & maintenance budget to create economies of 
scale.  This supports individual schools to manage urgent responsive work and costly maintenance and 
71% of the fund was used in 2019/20 with the balance c/f to support works in 20/21.  

 Statutory compliance testing and checks are managed by the LA on behalf of schools via a SLA with 
Property Services.  Urgent and emergency responsive repairs are also reported to the LA through this 
SLA and the work is prioritised and dealt with according to the assigned priority. 

 
Admissions 
 

 The Admissions Forum is an effective forum, chaired independently where all stakeholders discuss and 
seek consensus regarding all matters concerning the LA’s admission arrangements.  

 The Forum meets bi-annually and includes representatives from the Diocesan authority, the local VA 

Page 60



Page 29 of 31 
 

schools, each of the various school sectors, neighbouring LA reps, and other appropriate professionals 
such as officers from the ALN department and the CLA team.  

 The LA publishes the admissions arrangements for the VA schools in Merthyr Tydfil within the annual 
statutory publication ‘Guide to Admissions for Parents’.  

 The Admissions Forum is consulted by the LA with regards to its Admission Policy, which is reviewed 
annually, any proposed changes to catchment areas and any protocols such as Managed Moves and 
Fair Access.  

 Parental communication and support, mid-term admissions and nursery admission arrangements are 
all discussed and agreed with the Admissions Forum. 

 The communication interface and access to understandable information has improved for 
parents/carers with increased use of web, social media, emails, texts and parent friendly leaflets. 

 The introduction of pre-school transition sessions for children accessing all Core and Original Flying 
Start settings in XX where parents are provided with information on the Nursery admissions process 
has supported an increase in the submission of timely Nursery applications. 

 Admissions have been via an online process for Reception and Secondary admissions since September 
2018. A number of parents/carers continue to experience difficulties accessing the online Capita One 
system, but online take up has resulted in approximately 70% of Reception applications and 80% of 
Secondary applications being made online for September 2020.  

 Through strategic planning of school places, the authority has ensured sufficient space is available in 
local schools and no parent has made an appeal for admissions to statutory school place.  

 Parental first preference is consistently met for 100% for Reception and Secondary school admission 
and processes are operated in accordance with statutory timescales  

 The authority has effective arrangements for children who move into the area during the school year 
so that they can be accommodated without delay. All pupils not attending school or receiving other 
appropriate education have been offered a place within the recommended timescales.  

 There are a significant number of mid-term admissions within the LA; in 2019-20 (to May 2020) there 
were 116 mid-term admissions (39% from out of county) and 99% of these were met within statutory 
timescales, this compares to 270 in 2017/18 (50% from out of county) and 155 to date in 2018/19 (57% 
from out of county).  

 The Managed Move protocol and Equality of Access protocol agreed by schools is working effectively 
and helps to ensure managed moves are equitable and progressed within statutory timescales.  

 Nursery admission arrangements have been reviewed and a determination made regarding sufficient 
provision of nursery for all rising 3’s and rising 4’s across the county borough. This determination was 
made by Council in January 2020 and was included in published Nursery Admission arrangements for 
academic year 20/21. 

 Based on this determination the LA is able to secure sufficient provision of English Medium places from 
2020/2021 onwards but sufficient provision of Welsh Medium nursery education cannot be secured 
currently.  

 More Welsh Medium nursery education places are required as part of the wider WESP strategy to 
increase the number of pupils receiving Welsh Medium primary education across the County Borough. 
Plans are in place to address this through the various proposals outlined above for additional classroom 
provision in the existing WM schools and particularly the delivery of a third WM Primary. 

 
Key Priorities for Improvement 
 

 Improve standards of middle leaders so that they impact positively on improving standards of teaching 
and learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve standards of teaching and learning in many of the secondary schools in the borough.  

 Improve performance in many of the secondary schools in KS4 interim performance measures so that 
outcomes are at least at or above modelled expectations.  

Page 61



Page 30 of 31 
 

 Improve collaborative working across all clusters with a specific focus on improving outcomes in 
Literacy, Numeracy and DCF skills. 

 Improve the capacity of governing bodies to hold schools to account thereby impacting positively on 
standards of leadership, teaching and learning in red, amber and some yellow schools.  

 Improve the rate of improvement of a minority of red and amber schools ( 3 schools) 

 Ensure there is appropriate provision for pupils with identified additional learning needs at all stages of 
schooling 

 Improve rates of attendance in both primary and secondary schools 

 Review and refresh the early identification toolkit  

 The use of capita one to judge impact of interventions and effectiveness of services 

 Improve the condition of school settings and wider educational settings 
 

Evidence 
 

 Scrutiny Report– National Categorisation of Schools, January 2019 

 Scrutiny Committee Report – Inspection Area 2, October 2018 

 Estyn Appendix and Background paper IA2.1, 2.2, 2.3 

 School categorisation overview 2018-19 

 LA Performance Review Reports 

 LA Performance Review minutes 

 Use of Powers overview 

 Risk Management Conference minutes 

 Governor training records 

 Youth Service Strategy 17-20 

 YSS Cabinet Information Report progress since 2015 

 CHS Year 10 26.03.18  

 CHS minutes 26th March 

 Enhanced Support Minutes May 2018 

 Scrutiny Report: Early Language Development, Nov 2017 

 Families First Grant Annual Report 17.18 

 CSA Template Merthyr Tydfil 2017 Final (2.2) 

 Portfolio report flying Start 17-18 

 Final Monitoring Tool update Jan 2018 

 Destinations pre-release from CW Hub 

 MIS Individual LEA Y11 2017 

 Cabinet Report Play Sufficiency Assessment 2018 

 Stats Wales data, Youth Work in Wales 2018-19 

 Awarding body assessment reports - SM 

 YSS Cabinet – info report – progress since 2015 

 Cabinet Information Report – Youth Support Services In Merthyr Tydfil August 2019 

 Cabinet Information Report - NEET Prevention & Performance Report 2019 

 Cabinet Information Report - NEETs Strategy Council Approved  

 Cabinet Information Report –Young People’s Participation 2018-19 

 ALN Transformation Action Plan 2020/21 

 Attendance Handbook 

 EAL Handbook 

 Exclusion Handbook 

 ALN and Inclusion Operational BIP 2020/21 

Page 62



Page 31 of 31 
 

 WG Schools Capacity Return 2019 

 ADEW Schools Capacity Benchmarking Data 

 EY Capital Grants 2019-2022 

 Learning Department Asset Management Plan  

 Band B SOP 

 Primary Pupil Projections 2019-2024 

 Secondary Pupil Projections 2019-2029 

 School Places Planning Datasheet - LDP implications 

 3-16 School Reorganisation Cabinet Report (Sep 2019) 

 Greenfield Pupil projections trend data 

 Greenfield Bandings Criteria 

 Condition survey programme data 2016-2019 

 WG School Premises data return 2019 

 Ysgol Y Graig Band A FBC (Full Business Case) 

 Pen Y Dre Band B OBC (Outline Business Case) 

 WG Capital Mtce Programme 2019-20 and 20-21 

 Mutual Fund R&M Fund 19-20 

 School Admission Arrangements 20-21 

 Securing Sufficient Nursery Education for the County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil (Research Report Dec 
2019)  

 Nursery Sufficiency Council Report (Jan 2020) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
 

The following example is how the Raising Aspiration Raising Standards Strategy meets the 5 ways of working within 
the Wellbeing and Future Generations Act 

 
 
 
Long-term  
The strategy provides for a five-year approach but with a clear focus on how these priorities impact on the longer term 
outcomes for children and young people. This strategy and its focus on outcomes and using data more clearly to 
understand needs will drive forward many of the service developments across council service areas and beyond.  The 
priorities will be reviewed annually.   
 
Prevention 
The focus within the strategy of health and wellbeing of all children and young people ensures that issues of wellbeing 
are given the same importance as academic concerns. The strategy also dovetails to other work in relation to reducing 
obesity rates and increasing the level of physical activity in the borough therefore preventing longer-term issues. The 
strategy also has an emphasis on transition at all levels of education which can be a vulnerable time for children and 
young people.  
 
Integration 
The Strategy has a clear vision which is embedded directly to the Councils priorities around attainment in the 
corporate plan.  The Strategy recognises the importance of education attainment across all educational settings with 
links to Economic Growth and the world of work, which also links to the priorities of the Regional City Deal as well as 
having links to the Early Help Hub to provide support and intervention to families as early as possible.  
 
Collaboration and involvement  
The RARS strategy was developed in partnership with: headteachers, governors, young people, Education, Social 
Services and Regeneration.  All partners have a vested interest in developing local priorities and on the success of their 
delivery due to the longer term implications for children and young people within the economy of the County Borough 
as well as indirect benefits to families.  
 
  

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its draft work programme for consideration 
and to prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Draft Forward Work Programme and 
approves, revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the 
questions at 3.7 in planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached draft forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 7th September 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 19th October 2020 

Page 67

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 68



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 69



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 70



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 72



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self -evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)? 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

21st 
September 
2020 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2020/21 

BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: -  To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2020/21 
 

Learning Department’s 
Response to Covid-19 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the impact and 
response of the Learning Department following the 
outbreak of Covid-19.  
 

School’s Response to Covid-
19 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Head Teacher of 
Pen-Y-Dre High School / Head 
Teacher of Troedyrhiw 
Primary School 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - Head Teachers of Pen-Y-
Dre High School and Troedyrhiw Primary School to 
attend to discuss schools response to Covid-19. 
 

19th October 
2020 

CSC Delivery Programme: 
Commitment to Raising 
Aspirations Raising Standards 
(RARS) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To provide challenge to 
CSC in relation to their commitments towards Raising 
Aspirations and Raising Standards.  

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

P
age 73



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self -evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

30th 
November 
2020 

Report on Healthy Schools 
Programme – Local Authority 
Update; and representative(s) 
from the Health Board to 
attend to discuss various 
factors which impact on 
Schools’ Healthy Work 
Programmes 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To present an update 
report from the Learning Department in relation to 
the Healthy Schools Programme and how this aligns 
with the Tackling Poverty agenda. Representative 
from the Health Board to attend to discuss various 
factors which impact on Schools’ Healthy Work 
Programmes. 

11th January 
2021 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

Learning Asset Management 
Plan (21st Century Schools) 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Head of School 
Planning & Improvement 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive an update on the developments of the 
Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools) 
projects for Learning. 

8th February 
2021 

Wellbeing: Report on Anti-
bullying  

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Learning Department 
will present a report which outlines the work being 
done to tackle issues around bullying across the 
County Borough including the growing issues in 
relation to cyber-bullying. The Head Teachers of … 
High School and … Primary School will also be in 
attendance to provide further insight in relation to 
the work being done around anti-bullying. 
 

15th March 
2021 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 1) 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

P
age 74



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self -evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capita One System – Update 
Report 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Strand: Data 
Officer 

Scrutiny and Challenge: The Scrutiny Committee will 
receive a report on current use of Capita One within 
the Learning Department and next steps for ongoing 
development 

26th April 2021 

Focus on Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) (report to 
include update on the 
Readiness Tool) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Sarah Bowen: 
Inclusion Manager 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To receive a report on 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN) that should also 
include updates on the ‘Readiness Tool’ which was 
presented to Learning & LGES Scrutiny Committee on 
the 25th November 2019. 
 

Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 
Update Report 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The scrutiny focus for this 
item is to be confirmed. 
 

P
age 75



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the guidance from Audit Wales, scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best 
suited to the topic area and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self -evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Additional items to consider for Work 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 
 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

Date to be 
confirmed 

 

P
age 76


	Agenda
	3 Central South Consortium (CSC) Commitments to Raising Aspirations Raising Standards Strategy (RARS)
	Appendix 1

	4 Corporate Self-Evaluation – Key Question 2 (Incorporating Inspection Area 2 of Estyn Framework)
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	5 Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix 1


